

# **Preventing Suicide:** A Technical Package of Policy, Programs, and Practices



National Center for Injury Prevention and Control Division of Violence Prevention



# **Preventing Suicide:** A Technical Package of Policy, Programs, and Practices

#### **Developed by:**

Deb Stone, ScD, MSW, MPH Kristin Holland, PhD, MPH Brad Bartholow, PhD Alex Crosby, MD, MPH Shane Davis, PhD Natalie Wilkins, PhD

2017

Division of Violence Prevention National Center for Injury Prevention and Control Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Atlanta, Georgia



**Centers for Disease Control and Prevention** Anne Schuchat, MD (RADM, USPHS), Acting Director

National Center for Injury Prevention and Control Debra E. Houry, MD, MPH, Director

> Division of Violence Prevention James A. Mercy, PhD, Director

#### **Suggested citation:**

Stone, D.M., Holland, K.M., Bartholow, B., Crosby, A.E., Davis, S., and Wilkins, N. (2017). *Preventing Suicide: A Technical Package of Policies, Programs, and Practices*. Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.



## Contents

Acknowledgements	5
External Reviewers	5
Overview	7
Strengthen Economic Supports	15
Strengthen Access and Delivery of Suicide Care	19
Create Protective Environments	23
Promote Connectedness	27
Teach Coping and Problem-Solving Skills	31
Identify and Support People at Risk	35
Lessen Harms and Prevent Future Risk	41
Sector Involvement	43
Monitoring and Evaluation	45
Conclusion	47
References	49
Appendix: Summary of Strategies and Approaches to Prevent Suicide	58

3





## Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the following individuals who contributed in specific ways to the development of this technical package. We give special thanks to Linda Dahlberg for her vision, guidance, and support throughout the development of this package. We thank Division, Center, and CDC leadership for their careful review and helpful feedback on earlier iterations of this document. We thank Alida Knuth for her formatting and design expertise. Last but definitely not least, we extend our thanks and gratitude to all the external reviewers for their helpful feedback, support and encouragement for this resource.

## **External Reviewers**

Casey Castaldi Prevention Institute

Carmen Clelland Office for State, Tribal, Local and Territorial Support, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Amalia Corby-Edwards American Psychological Association

Rachel Davis Prevention Institute

Pamela End of Horn Indian Health Service Headquarters

Craig Fisher American Psychological Association

Keita Franklin Department of Defense

Jill M. Harkavy Friedman American Foundation for Suicide Prevention

Jarrod Hindman Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment

Linda Langford Education Development Center, Inc.

Richard McKeon Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration Doreen S. Marshall American Foundation for Suicide Prevention

Christine Moutier American Foundation for Suicide Prevention

Jason H. Padgett Education Development Center, Inc.

Jerry Reed Education Development Center, Inc.

Dan Reidenberg Suicide Awareness Voices for Education (SAVE)

Christine Schuler National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Morton Silverman Education Development Center, Inc.

Ellyson Stout Education Development Center, Inc.

Hope M. Tiesman National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

The experts above are listed with their affiliations at the time this document was reviewed.





## **Overview**

This technical package represents a select group of strategies based on the best available evidence to help communities and states sharpen their focus on prevention activities with the greatest potential to prevent suicide. These strategies include: strengthening economic supports; strengthening access and delivery of suicide care; creating protective environments; promoting connectedness; teaching coping and problem-solving skills; identifying and supporting people at risk; and lessening harms and preventing future risk. The strategies represented in this package include those with a focus on preventing the risk of suicide in the first place as well as approaches to lessen the immediate and long-term harms of suicidal behavior for individuals, families, communities, and society. The strategies in the technical package support the goals and objectives of the *National Strategy for Suicide Prevention*<sup>1</sup> and the National Action Alliance for Suicide Prevention's priority to strengthen community-based prevention.<sup>2</sup> Commitment, cooperation, and leadership from numerous sectors, including public health, education, justice, health care, social services, business, labor, and government can bring about the successful implementation of this package.

#### What is a Technical Package?

A technical package is a compilation of a core set of strategies to achieve and sustain substantial reductions in a specific risk factor or outcome.<sup>3</sup> Technical packages help communities and states prioritize prevention activities based on the best available evidence. This technical package has three components. The first component is the **strategy** or the preventive direction or actions to achieve the goal of preventing suicide. The second component is the **approach**. The approach includes the specific ways to advance the strategy. This can be accomplished through *programs, policies, and practices*. The **evidence** for each of the approaches in preventing suicide or its associated risk factors is included as the third component. This package is intended as a resource to guide and inform prevention decision-making in communities and states.

#### **Preventing Suicide is a Priority**

Suicide, as defined by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), is part of a broader class of behavior called *self-directed violence*. Self-directed violence refers to behavior directed at oneself that deliberately results in injury or the *potential* for injury.<sup>4</sup> Self-directed violence may be *suicidal* or *non-suicidal* in nature. For the purposes of this document, we refer only to behavior where suicide is intended:

- **Suicide** is a death caused by self-directed injurious behavior with any intent to die as a result of the behavior.
- **Suicide attempt** is defined as a *non-fatal* self-directed and potentially injurious behavior with any intent to die as a result of the behavior. A suicide attempt may or may not result in injury.

**Suicide is highly prevalent.** Suicide presents a major challenge to public health in the United States and worldwide. It contributes to premature death, morbidity, lost productivity, and health care costs.<sup>1,5</sup> In 2015 (the most recent year of available death data), suicide was responsible for 44,193 deaths in the U.S., which is approximately one suicide every 12 minutes.<sup>6</sup> In 2015, suicide ranked as the 10th leading cause of death and has been among the top 12 leading causes of death since 1975 in the U.S.<sup>7</sup> Overall suicide rates increased 28% from 2000 to 2015.<sup>6</sup> Suicide is a problem throughout the life span; it is the third leading cause of death for youth 10–14 years of age, the second leading cause of death among people 15–24 and 25–34 years of age; the fourth leading cause among people 35 to 44 years of age, the fifth leading cause among people 35–64 years of age.<sup>6</sup>



Suicide rates vary by race/ethnicity, age, and other population characteristics, with the highest rates across the life span occurring among non-Hispanic American Indian/Alaska Native (Al/AN) and non-Hispanic White population groups. In 2015, the rates for these groups were 19.9 and 16.9 per 100,000 population, respectively.<sup>6</sup> Other population groups disproportionately impacted by suicide include middle-aged adults (whose rates increased 35% from 2000 to 2015, with steep increases seen among both males (29%) and females (53%) aged 35–64 years<sup>6</sup>; Veterans and other military personnel (whose suicide rate nearly doubled from 2003 to 2008, surpassing the rate of suicide among civilians for the first time in decades)<sup>8.9</sup>; workers in certain occupational groups,<sup>10,11</sup> and sexual minority youth, who experience increased suicidal ideation and behavior compared to their non-sexual minority peers.<sup>12-14</sup>

Suicides reflect only a portion of the problem.<sup>15</sup> Substantially more people are hospitalized as a result of nonfatal suicidal behavior (i.e., suicide attempts) than are fatally injured, and an even greater number are either treated in ambulatory settings (e.g., emergency departments) or not treated at all.<sup>15</sup> For example, during 2014, among adults aged 18 years and older, for every one suicide there were 9 adults treated in hospital emergency departments for self-harm injuries, 27 who reported making a suicide attempt, and over 227 who reported seriously considering suicide.<sup>6,16</sup>

**Suicide is associated with several risk and protective factors.** Suicide, like other human behaviors, has no single determining cause. Instead, suicide occurs in response to multiple biological, psychological, interpersonal, environmental and societal influences that interact with one another, often over time.<sup>1,5</sup> The social ecological model—encompassing multiple levels of focus from the individual, relationship, community, and societal—is a useful framework for viewing and understanding suicide risk and protective factors identified in the literature.<sup>17</sup> Risk and protective factors for suicide exist at each level. For example, risk factors include:<sup>1,5</sup>

- Individual level: history of depression and other mental illnesses, hopelessness, substance abuse, certain health conditions, previous suicide attempt, violence victimization and perpetration, and genetic and biological determinants
- **Relationship level**: high conflict or violent relationships, sense of isolation and lack of social support, family/ loved one's history of suicide, financial and work stress
- **Community level**: inadequate community connectedness, barriers to health care (e.g., lack of access to providers and medications)
- **Societal level**: availability of lethal means of suicide, unsafe media portrayals of suicide, stigma associated with help-seeking and mental illness.

It is important to recognize that the vast majority of individuals who are depressed, attempt suicide, or have other risk factors, do *not* die by suicide.<sup>18,19</sup> Furthermore, the relevance of each risk factor can vary by age, race, gender, sexual orientation, residential geography, and socio-cultural and economic status.<sup>1,5</sup>

 Image: Constraint of the second sec

Protective factors, or those influences that buffer against the risk for suicide, can also be found across the different levels of the social ecological model. Protective factors identified in the literature include: effective coping and problem-solving skills, moral objections to suicide, strong and supportive relationships with partners, friends, and family; connectedness to school, community, and other social institutions; availability of quality and ongoing physical and mental health care, and reduced access to lethal means.<sup>1,5</sup> These protective factors can either counter a specific risk factor or buffer against a number of risks associated with suicide.

**Suicide is connected to other forms of violence.** Exposure to violence (e.g., child abuse and neglect, bullying, peer violence, dating violence, sexual violence, and intimate partner violence) is associated with increased risk of depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety, suicide, and suicide attempts.<sup>20-26</sup> Women exposed to partner violence are nearly 5 times more likely to attempt suicide as women not exposed to partner violence.<sup>26</sup> Exposure to adverse experiences in childhood, such as physical, sexual, emotional abuse and neglect, and living in homes with violence, mental health, substance abuse problems and other instability, is also associated with increased risk for suicide and suicide attempts.<sup>22,27</sup> The psychosocial effects of violence in childhood and adolescence can be observed decades later, including severe problems with finances, family, jobs, and stress—factors that can increase the risk for suicide. Suicide and other forms of violence often share the same individual, relationship, community, and societal risk factors suggesting that efforts to prevent interpersonal violence may also prove beneficial in preventing suicide.<sup>28-30</sup> CDC has developed technical packages for the different forms of interpersonal violence to help communities identify additional strategies and approaches (https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pub/technical-packages.html). Further, just as risk factors may be shared across suicide and interpersonal violence, so too may protective factors overlap. For example, connectedness to one's community,<sup>31</sup> school,<sup>32</sup> family,<sup>33</sup> caring adults,<sup>34,35</sup> and pro-social peers<sup>36</sup> can enhance resilience and help reduce risk for suicide and other forms of violence.



The health and economic consequences of suicide are substantial. Suicide and suicide attempts have far reaching consequences for individuals, families, and communities.<sup>37-40</sup> In an early study, Crosby and Sacks<sup>41</sup> estimated that 7% of the U.S. adult population, or 13.2 million adults, knew someone in the prior 12 months who had died by suicide. They also estimated that for each suicide, 425 adults were exposed, or knew about the death.<sup>41</sup> In a more recent study, in one state, Cerel et al<sup>42</sup> found that 48% of the population knew at least one person who died by suicide in their lifetime. Research indicates that the impact of knowing someone who died by suicide and/or having lived experience (i.e., personally have attempted suicide, have had suicidal thoughts, or have been impacted by suicidal loss) is much more extensive than injury and death. People with lived experience may suffer long-term health and mental health consequences ranging from anger, guilt, and physical impairment, depending on the means and severity of the attempt.<sup>43</sup> Similarly, survivors of a loved one's suicide may experience ongoing pain and suffering including complicated grief,<sup>44</sup> stigma, depression, anxiety, posttraumatic stress disorder, and increased risk of suicidal ideation and suicide. 45,46 Less discussed but no less important, are the financial and occupational effects on those left behind.47

The economic toll of suicide on society is immense as well. According to conservative estimates, in 2013, suicide cost \$50.8 billion in estimated lifetime medical and work-loss costs alone.<sup>47</sup> Adjusting for potential under-reporting of suicide and drawing upon health expenditures per capita, gross domestic product per capita, and variability among states in per capita health care expenditures and income, another study estimated the total lifetime costs associated with nonfatal injuries and deaths caused by self-directed violence to be approximately \$93.5 billion in 2013.<sup>48</sup> The overwhelming burden of these costs were from lost productivity over the life course, with the average cost per suicide being over \$1.3 million.<sup>48</sup> The true economic costs are likely higher, as neither study included monetary figures related to other societal costs such as those associated with the pain and suffering of family members or other impacts.

**Suicide can be prevented.** Like most public health problems, suicide is preventable.<sup>1,5</sup> While progress will continue to be made into the future, evidence for numerous programs, practices, and policies currently exists, and many programs are ready to be implemented now. Just as suicide is not caused by a single factor, research suggests that reductions in suicide will not be prevented by any single strategy or approach.<sup>1,49</sup> Rather, suicide prevention is best achieved by a focus across the individual, relationship, family, community, and societal-levels and across all sectors, private and public.<sup>1,5</sup>

#### **Assessing the Evidence**

10

This technical package includes programs, practices, and policies with evidence of impact on suicide or risk or protective factors for suicide. To be considered for inclusion in the technical package, the program, practice, or policy selected had to meet at least one of these criteria: a) meta-analyses or systematic reviews showing impact on suicide; b) evidence from at least one rigorous (e.g., randomized controlled trial [RCT] or quasi-experimental design) evaluation study that found significant preventive effects on suicide; c) meta-analyses or systematic reviews showing impact on risk or protective factors for suicide, or d) evidence from at least one rigorous (e.g., RCT or quasi-experimental design) evaluation study that found significant impacts on risk or protective factors for suicide. Finally, consideration was also given to the likelihood of achieving beneficial effects on multiple forms of violence; no evidence of harmful effects on specific outcomes or with particular subgroups; and feasibility of implementation in a U.S. context if the program, policy, or practice has been evaluated in another country.



Within this technical package, some approaches do not yet have research evidence demonstrating impact on rates of suicide but instead are supported by evidence indicating impacts on risk or protective factors for suicide (e.g., help-seeking, stigma reduction, depression, connectedness). In terms of the strength of the evidence, programs that have demonstrated effects on suicidal behavior (e.g., reductions in deaths, attempts) provide a higher-level of evidence, but the evidence base is not that strong in all areas. For instance, there has been less evaluation of community engagement and family programs on suicidal behavior. Thus, approaches in this package that have effects on risk or protective factors reflect the developing nature of the evidence base and the use of the best available evidence at a given time.

It is also important to note that there is often significant heterogeneity among the programs, policies, or practices that fall within one approach or strategy in terms of the nature and quality of the available evidence. Not all programs, policies, or practices that utilize the same approach are equally effective, and even those that are effective may not work across all populations. Tailoring programs and conducting more evaluations may be necessary to address different population groups. The evidence-based programs, practices, or policies included in the package are not intended to be a comprehensive list for each approach, but rather to serve as examples that have been shown to impact suicide or have beneficial effects on risk or protective factors for suicide.

#### **Contextual and Cross-Cutting Themes**

One important feature of the package is the complementary and potentially synergistic impact of the strategies and approaches. The strategies and approaches included in this technical package represent different levels of the social ecology, with efforts intended to impact community and societal levels, as well individual and relationship levels. The strategies and approaches are intended to work in combination and reinforce each other to prevent suicide (see box on page 12). The strategies are arranged in order such that those strategies hypothesized to have the greatest potential for broad public health impact on suicide are included first, followed by those that might impact subsets of the population (e.g., persons who have already made a suicide attempt).



11



Preventing Suicide		
Strategy	Approach	
Strengthen economic supports	<ul> <li>Strengthen household financial security</li> <li>Housing stabilization policies</li> </ul>	
Strengthen access and delivery of suicide care	<ul> <li>Coverage of mental health conditions in health insurance policies</li> <li>Reduce provider shortages in underserved areas</li> <li>Safer suicide care through systems change</li> </ul>	
Create protective environments	<ul> <li>Reduce access to lethal means among persons at risk of suicide</li> <li>Organizational policies and culture</li> <li>Community-based policies to reduce excessive alcohol use</li> </ul>	
Promote connectedness	<ul> <li>Peer norm programs</li> <li>Community engagement activities</li> </ul>	
Teach coping and problem-solving skills	<ul> <li>Social-emotional learning programs</li> <li>Parenting skill and family relationship programs</li> </ul>	
Identify and support people at risk	<ul> <li>Gatekeeper training</li> <li>Crisis intervention</li> <li>Treatment for people at risk of suicide</li> <li>Treatment to prevent re-attempts</li> </ul>	
Lessen harms and prevent future risk	<ul> <li>Postvention</li> <li>Safe reporting and messaging about suicide</li> </ul>	
	·	

It is important to note that these strategies are not mutually exclusive but each has an immediate focus. For instance, social-emotional learning programs, an approach under the *Teach Coping and Problem-Solving Skills* strategy, sometimes include components to change peer norms and the broader environment. The primary focus of these programs, however, is to provide children and youth with skills to resolve problems in relationships, school, and with peers, and to help youth address other negative influences (e.g., substance use) associated with suicide.

12



The goal of this package is to stress the importance of comprehensive prevention efforts and to provide examples of effective programs addressing each level of the social ecology, with the knowledge that some programs, practices, and policies may impact multiple levels. Further, those that involve multiple sectors and that impact multiple levels of the social ecology are more likely to have a greater impact on the overall burden of suicide.

Suicide ideation, thoughts, attempts, and deaths vary by gender, race/ethnicity, age, occupation, and other important population characteristics.<sup>6,50</sup> Further, certain transition periods are also associated with higher rates of suicide (e.g., transition from working into retirement, transition from active duty military status to civilian status).<sup>48,51</sup> In fact, suicide risk can change along with dynamic risk factors. For example, individuals' coping skills may change during periods of crisis and heightened stress, limiting their normal ability to effectively solve problems and cope. Research indicates that suicide risk changes as a result of the number and intensity of key risk and protective factors experienced.<sup>52</sup> Ideally, the availability of multiple strategies and approaches tailored to the social, economic, cultural, and environmental context of individuals and communities are desirable as they may increase the likelihood of removing barriers to supportive and effective care and provide opportunities to develop individual and community resilience.<sup>1</sup>

Identifying programs, practices, and policies with evidence of impact on suicide, suicide attempts, or beneficial effects on risk or protective factors for suicide is only the first step. In practice, the effectiveness of the programs, policies and practices identified in this package will be strongly dependent on how well they are implemented, as well as the partners and communities in which they are implemented. Practitioners in the field may be in the best position to assess the needs and strengths of their communities and work with community members to make decisions about the combination of approaches included here that are best suited to their context.

Data-driven strategic planning processes can help communities with this work.<sup>53-55</sup> These planning processes engage and guide community stakeholders through a prevention planning process designed to address a community's profile of risk and protective factors with evidence-based programs, practices, and policies. These processes can also be used to monitor implementation, track outcomes, and make adjustments as indicated by the data. The readiness of the program for broad dissemination and implementation (e.g., availability of program materials, training and technical assistance) can also influence program effects. Implementation guidance to assist practitioners, organizations and communities will be developed separately.

This package includes strategies where public health agencies are well positioned to bring leadership and resources to implementation efforts. It also includes strategies where public health can serve as an important collaborator (e.g., strategies addressing community and societal level risks), but where leadership and commitment from other sectors such as business, labor or health care is critical to implement a particular policy or program (e.g., workplace policies; treatment to prevent re-attempts). The role of various sectors in the implementation of a strategy or approach in preventing suicide is described further in the section on *Sector Involvement*.

In the sections that follow, the strategies and approaches with the best available evidence for preventing suicide are described.





## **Strengthen Economic Supports**

#### Rationale

Studies from the U.S. examining historical trends indicate that suicide rates increase during economic recessions marked by high unemployment rates, job losses, and economic instability and decrease during economic expansions and periods marked by low unemployment rates, particularly for working-age individuals 25 to 64 years old.<sup>56,57</sup> Economic and financial strain, such as job loss, long periods of unemployment, reduced income, difficulty covering medical, food, and housing expenses, and even the anticipation of such financial stress may increase an individual's risk for suicide or may indirectly increase risk by exacerbating related physical and mental health problems.<sup>58</sup> Buffering these risks can, therefore, potentially protect against suicide. For example, strengthening economic support systems can help people stay in their homes or obtain affordable housing while also paying for necessities such as food and medical care, job training, child care, among other expenses required for daily living. In providing this support, stress and anxiety and the potential for a crisis situation may be reduced, thereby preventing suicide. Although more research is needed to understand how economic factors interact with other factors to increase suicide risk, the available evidence suggests that strengthening economic supports may be one opportunity to buffer suicide risk.

#### **Approaches**

Economic supports for individuals and families can be strengthened by targeting household financial security and ensuring stability in housing during periods of economic stress.

**Strengthening household financial security** can potentially buffer the risk of suicide by providing individuals with the financial means to lessen the stress and hardship associated with a job loss or other unanticipated financial problems. The provision of unemployment benefits and other forms of temporary assistance, livable wages, medical benefits, and retirement and disability insurance to help cover the cost of necessities or to offset costs in the event of disability, are examples of ways to strengthen household financial security.

Housing stabilization policies aim to keep people in their homes and provide housing options for those in need during times of financial insecurity. This may occur through programs that provide affordable housing such as through government subsidies or through other options available to potential homebuyers such as loan modification programs, move-out planning, or financial counseling services that help minimize the risk or impact of foreclosures and eviction.

#### **Potential Outcomes**

- Reductions in foreclosure rates
- Reductions in eviction rates
- Reductions in emotional distress
- Reductions in rates of suicide



#### **Evidence**

There is evidence suggesting that strengthening household financial security and stabilizing housing can reduce suicide risk.



Strengthen household financial security. The Federal-State Unemployment Insurance Program allows states to define the maximum amount and duration of unemployment benefits that workers are entitled to receive after a job loss.<sup>59</sup> An examination of variations in unemployment benefit programs across states demonstrated that the impact of unemployment on rates of suicide was offset in those states that provided greater than average unemployment benefits (mean level: \$7,990 per person in U.S. constant dollars). The effects of *unemployment* benefit programs were also consistent by sex and age group.<sup>59</sup> Another U.S. study examining the link between unemployment and suicide rates using monthly suicide data, length of unemployment (less than 5 weeks, 5-14 weeks, 15-26 weeks, and greater than 26 weeks), and job losses found that the duration of unemployment, as opposed to just the loss of a job, predicted suicide risk.<sup>60</sup> Together, these results suggest that not only should state unemployment benefit programs be generous in their financial allocations, but also in their duration.

Other measures to strengthen household financial security (e.g., transfer payments related to retirement and disability insurance, unemployment insurance compensation, medical benefits, and other forms of family assistance) have also shown an impact on rates of suicide. A study by Flavin and Radcliff<sup>61</sup> examined the impact of states' per capita spending on transfer payments, medical benefits, and family assistance (Temporary Assistance to Needy Families—TANF) and total state spending on suicide rates between 1990-2000, controlling for a number of suicide risk factors (e.g., residential mobility, divorce rate, unemployment rate) at the state level. As per capita spending on total transfer payments, medical benefits, and family assistance increased there was an associated decrease in state suicide rates. In terms of lives saved, Flavin and Radcliff calculated the cost of reducing a state's suicide rate by a full point for the years studied.<sup>61</sup> At the national level, they estimated 3,000 fewer suicides would occur per year nationwide if every state increased its per capita spending on these types of

Evidence suggests that strengthening household financial security and stabilizing housing can reduce suicide risk.

assistance by \$45 per year.<sup>61</sup> Although this was a correlational study, the results demonstrate the potential benefits of policies that reach particularly vulnerable individuals during periods of great need. More evaluation studies are needed to further understand the outcomes impacted by programs such as these.

**Housing stabilization policies.** The *Neighborhood Stabilization Program*<sup>62</sup> was designed to help neighborhoods suffering from high rates of foreclosure and abandonment by slowing the deterioration of the neighborhoods and providing affordable housing options for low, moderate, and middle-income homebuyers. This program also offers financial assistance to eligible individuals for the purchase of a new home. Although this program has not been rigorously evaluated for its impact on suicide outcomes, it addresses foreclosure and eviction, which are risk factors for suicide. A longitudinal analysis of annual data on suicides and foreclosures demonstrated that as the proportion of foreclosed properties increased in U.S. states, so did the state suicide rate, particularly among working-aged adults.<sup>63</sup> Another study of data from 16 U.S. states participating in the *National Violent Death Reporting System* found that suicides precipitated by home foreclosures and evictions increased more than 100% from 2005 (before the housing crisis began) to 2010 (after it had peaked).<sup>57</sup> Most of these suicides occurred prior to the actual loss of the decedent's home. These findings suggest that integrating suicide prevention resources, messaging, and referrals into financial, foreclosure, and move-out planning and counseling services may help to prevent suicide.





# Strengthen Access and Delivery of Suicide Care

#### Rationale

While most people with mental health problems do not attempt or die by suicide<sup>18,19</sup> and the level of risk conferred by different types of mental illness varies,<sup>64-66</sup> previous research indicates that mental illness is an important risk factor for suicide.<sup>5,67</sup> State-level suicide rates have also been found to be correlated with general mental health measures such as depression.<sup>68,69</sup> Findings from the *National Comorbidity Survey* indicate that relatively few people in the U.S. with mental health disorders receive treatment for those conditions.<sup>70</sup> Lack of access to mental health care is one of the contributing factors related to the underuse of mental health services.<sup>71</sup> Identifying ways to improve access to timely, affordable, and quality mental health and suicide care for people in need is a critical component to prevention.<sup>5</sup> Additionally, research suggests that services provided are maximized when health and behavioral health care systems are set up to effectively and efficiently deliver such care.<sup>72</sup> Apart from treatment benefits, these approaches can also normalize help-seeking behavior and increase the use of such services.

## **Approaches**

There are a number of approaches that can be used to strengthen access and delivery of suicide care, including:

**Coverage of mental health conditions in health insurance policies.** Federal and state laws include provisions for equal coverage of mental health services in health insurance plans that is on par with coverage for other health concerns (i.e., mental health parity).<sup>73</sup> Benefits and services covered include such things as the number of visits, copays, deductibles, inpatient/outpatient services, prescription drugs, and hospitalizations. If a state has a stronger mental health parity law than the federal parity law, then insurance plans regulated by the state must follow the state parity law. If a state has a weaker parity law than the federal parity law (e.g., includes coverage for some mental health conditions but not others), then the federal parity law will replace the state law. Equal coverage does not necessarily imply good coverage as health insurance plans vary in the extent to which benefits and services are offered to address various health conditions. Rather it helps to ensure that mental health services are covered on par with other health concerns.

**Reduce provider shortages in underserved areas.** Access to effective and state-of-the-art mental health care is largely dependent upon the training and the size of the mental health care workforce. Over 85 million Americans live in areas with an insufficient number of mental health providers; this shortage is particularly severe among low-income urban and rural communities.<sup>74</sup> There are various ways to increase the number and distribution of practicing mental health providers in underserved areas including offering financial incentives through existing state and federal programs (e.g., loan repayment programs) and expanding the reach of health services through telephone, video and web-based technologies. Such approaches can increase the likelihood that those in need will be able to access affordable, quality care for mental health problems, which can reduce risk for suicide.



**Safer suicide care through systems change.** Access to health and behavioral health care services is critical for people at risk of suicide; however this is just one piece of the puzzle. Care should also be delivered efficiently and effectively. More specifically, care should take place within a system that supports suicide prevention and patient safety through strong leadership, workforce training, systematic identification and assessment of suicide risk, implementation of evidence-based treatments (see *Identify and Support People at Risk*), continuity of care, and continuous quality improvement. Care that is patient-centered and promotes equity for all patients is also of critical importance.<sup>75</sup>

#### **Potential Outcomes**

- Increased use of mental health services
- Lower rates of treatment attrition
- Reductions in depressive symptoms
- Reductions in rates of suicide attempts
- Reductions in rates of suicide

#### **Evidence**

20

There is evidence suggesting that coverage of mental health conditions in health insurance policies and improving access and the delivery of care can reduce risk factors associated with suicide and may directly impact suicide rates.

**Coverage of mental health conditions in health insurance policies.** The *National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH)* is a nationally representative survey of the U.S. population that provides data on substance use, mental health conditions, and service utilization.<sup>50</sup> Using data from this survey, Harris, Carpenter, and Bao<sup>76</sup> found that 12 months after states enacted *mental health parity laws*, self-reported use of mental healthcare services significantly increased. Moreover, subsequent research by Lang<sup>69</sup> examined state mental health laws and suicide rates between 1990 and 2004 and found that mental health parity laws, specifically, were associated with an approximate 5% reduction in suicide rates. This reduction, in the 29 states with parity laws, equated to the prevention of 592 suicides per year.<sup>69</sup>

**Reduce provider shortages in underserved areas.** One example of a program to improve access to mental health care providers is the *National Health Service Corps (NHSC)*, which offers financial incentives to attract mental/behavioral health clinicians to underserved areas.<sup>77</sup> Programs such as *NHSC* encourage individuals to work in the mental health profession in locations designated as Health Professional Shortage Areas (HPSAs) in exchange for student loan debt repayment. A 2012 retention survey conducted by the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), found that 61% of mental and behavioral health care providers continued to practice in designated mental health shortage areas after their four year commitment to the *NHSC*.<sup>78</sup> Although this program has not been evaluated for impact on suicide, it addresses access to care, which is a critical component to suicide prevention.

*Telemental Health (TMH)* services refer to the use of telephone, video and web-based technologies for providing psychiatric or psychological care at a distance.<sup>79</sup> *TMH* can be used in a variety of settings (e.g., outpatient clinics, hospitals, military treatment facilities) to treat a wide range of mental health conditions. It can also improve access to care for patients in isolated areas, as well as reduce travel time and expenses, reduce delays in receiving care, and improve satisfaction interacting with the mental health care system. A systematic review of *TMH* services found that services rated as high or good quality were effective in treating mental health conditions such as depression, schizophrenia, substance



abuse, and suicidal ideation and suicide.<sup>79</sup> Further, Mohr and colleagues<sup>80</sup> conducted a meta-analysis examining the effect of psychotherapy delivered specifically via telephone and found that it significantly reduced depressive symptoms in comparison to face-to-face psychotherapy. They also found that treatment attrition rates were significantly lower among patients receiving telephone-administered psychotherapy compared to patients receiving face-to-face therapy.<sup>80</sup> Thus, *TMH* may not only offer improved access to mental health care, but it may also ensure continuity of care, and thereby further reduce the risk for suicide.

**Safer suicide care through systems change.** *Henry Ford Health System*, which is a large health maintenance organization (HMO) in the state of Michigan, pioneered *Perfect Depression Care*,<sup>81</sup> the pre-cursor to what is now called *Zero Suicide*. The overall goal of *Perfect Depression Care* was to eliminate suicide among HMO members. More broadly, the goal of the program was to redesign delivery of depression care to achieve "breakthrough improvement" in quality and safety by focusing on effectiveness, safety, patient centeredness, timeliness, efficiency, and equity among patients. The program screened and assessed each patient for suicide risk and implemented coordinated continuous follow-up care system wide.<sup>81</sup> An examination of the impact of the program found that there was a dramatic and statistically significant decrease in the rate of suicide perfect perfect and page.<sup>81,82</sup> Further, among HMO members who received mental health specialty services, the suicide rate significantly decreased over time from 1999 to 2010 (110.3 to 47.6 per 100,000 population; p<.04) with a mean of 36.2 per 100,000 over the period.<sup>83</sup> Additionally, for those HMO members who accessed only general medical services as opposed to specialty mental health services, the suicide rate increased from 2.7 to 5.6 per 100,000 (p<.01).<sup>83</sup> Similarly, in the state of Michigan, rates of suicide in the general population increased over the period from 9.8 to 12.5 per 100,000 (p<.001).<sup>83</sup>





## **Create Protective Environments**

#### Rationale

Prevention efforts that focus not only on individual behavior change (e.g., help-seeking, treatment interventions) but on changes to the environment can increase the likelihood of positive behavioral and health outcomes.<sup>84</sup> Creating environments that address risk and protective factors where individuals live, work, and play can help prevent suicide.<sup>1,17</sup> For example, rates of suicide are high among middle-aged adults who comprise 42.6% of the workforce<sup>85</sup>; among certain occupational groups<sup>10,11</sup>; and among people in detention facilities (e.g., jail, prison),<sup>86</sup> to name a few. Thus, settings where these populations work and reside are ideal for implementing programs, practices and policies to buffer against suicide. Changes to organizational culture through the implementation of supportive policies, for instance, can change social norms, encourage help-seeking, and demonstrate that good health and mental health are valued and that stigma and other risk factors for suicide are not.<sup>87,88</sup> Similarly, modifying the characteristics of the physical environment to prevent harmful behavior such as access to lethal means can reduce suicide rates, particularly in times of crisis or transition.<sup>89-94</sup>

#### **Approaches**

The current evidence suggests three potential approaches for creating environments that protect against suicide.

**Reduce access to lethal means among persons at risk of suicide.** Means of suicide such as firearms, hanging/ suffocation, or jumping from heights provide little opportunity for rescue and, as such, have high case fatality rates (e.g., about 85% of people who use a firearm in a suicide attempt die from their injury).<sup>95</sup> Research also indicates that: 1) the interval between deciding to act and attempting suicide can be as short as 5 or 10 minutes,<sup>96,97</sup> and 2) people tend *not* to substitute a different method when a highly lethal method is unavailable or difficult to access.<sup>98,99</sup> Therefore, increasing the time interval between deciding to act and the suicide attempt, for example, by making it more difficult to access lethal means, can be lifesaving. The following are examples of approaches reducing access to lethal means for persons at risk of suicide:

- Intervening at Suicide Hotspots. Suicide hotspots, or places where suicides may take place relatively easily, include tall structures (e.g., bridges, cliffs, balconies, and rooftops), railway tracks, and isolated locations such as parks. Efforts to prevent suicide at these locations include erecting barriers or limiting access to prevent jumping, and installing signs and telephones to encourage individuals who are considering suicide, to seek help.<sup>100</sup>
- Safe Storage Practices. Safe storage of medications, firearms, and other household products can reduce the risk for suicide by separating vulnerable individuals from easy access to lethal means. Such practices may include education and counseling around storing firearms locked in a secure place (e.g., in a gun safe or lock box), unloaded and separate from the ammunition; and keeping medicines in a locked cabinet or other secure location away from people who may be at risk or who have made prior attempts.<sup>89,101</sup>

**Organizational policies and culture** that promote protective environments may be implemented in places of employment, detention facilities, and other secured environments (e.g., residential settings). Such policies and cultural values encourage leadership from the top down and may promote prosocial behavior (e.g., asking for help), skill building, positive social norms, assessment, referral and access to helping services (e.g., mental health, substance abuse treatment, financial counseling), and development of crisis response plans, postvention and other measures to foster a safe physical environment. Such policies and cultural shifts can positively impact organizational climate and morale and help prevent suicide and its related risk factors (e.g., depression, social isolation).<sup>88,102</sup>



Community-based policies to reduce excessive

alcohol use. Research studies in the United States have found that greater alcohol availability is positively associated with alcohol-involved suicides.<sup>103-105</sup> Policies to reduce excessive alcohol use broadly include zoning to limit the location and density of alcohol outlets, taxes on alcohol, and bans on the sale of alcohol for individuals under the legal drinking age.<sup>105</sup> These policies are important because acute alcohol use has been found to be associated with more than one-third of suicides and approximately 40% of suicide attempts.<sup>106</sup>

#### **Potential Outcomes**

- Increases in safe storage of lethal means
- Reductions in rates of suicide
- Reductions in suicide attempts
- Increases in help-seeking
- Reductions in alcohol-related suicide deaths



#### **Evidence**

The evidence suggests that creating protective environments can reduce suicide and suicide attempts and increase protective behaviors.

**Reduce access to lethal means among persons at risk of suicide.** A meta-analysis examining the impact of *suicide hotspot interventions* implemented in combination or in isolation, both in the U.S. and abroad, found associated reduced rates of suicide.<sup>100,107</sup> For example, after erecting a barrier on the Jacques-Cartier bridge in Canada, the suicide rate from jumping from the bridge decreased from about 10 suicide deaths per year to about 3 deaths per year.<sup>108</sup> Moreover, the reduction in suicides by jumping was sustained even when all bridges and nearby jumping sites were considered, suggesting little to no displacement of suicides to other jumping sites.<sup>108</sup> Further evidence for the effectiveness of bridge barriers was demonstrated by a study examining the impact of the *removal* of safety barriers from the Grafton Bridge in Auckland, New Zealand. After removal of the barrier, both the number and rate of suicide increased five-fold.<sup>93,109</sup>

Another form of means reduction involves implementation of *safe storage practices*. In a case-control study of firearm-related events identified from 37 counties in Washington, Oregon, and Missouri, and from 5 trauma centers, researchers found that storing firearms unloaded, separate from ammunition, in a locked place or secured with a safety device was protective of suicide attempts among adolescents.<sup>110</sup> Further, a recent systematic review of clinic and community-based education and counseling interventions suggested that the provision of safety devices significantly increased safe firearm storage practices compared to counseling alone or compared to the provision of economic incentives to acquire safety devices on one's own.<sup>101</sup>

24



Another program, the *Emergency Department Counseling on Access to Lethal Means (ED CALM)*, trained psychiatric emergency clinicians in a large children's hospital to provide lethal means counseling and safe storage boxes to parents of patients under age 18 receiving care for suicidal behavior. In a pre-post quality improvement project, Runyan et al<sup>89</sup> found that at post-test 76% (of the 55% of parents followed up, n=114) reported that all medications in the home were locked up as compared to fewer than 10% at the time of the initial emergency department visit. Among parents who indicated the presence of guns in the home at pre-test (i.e., 67%), all (100%) reported guns were currently locked up at post-test.<sup>89</sup>

**Organizational policies and culture.** *Together for Life* is a workplace program of the Montreal Police Force implemented to address suicide among officers. Policy and program components were designed to foster an organizational culture that promoted mutual support and solidarity among all members of the Force. The program included training of supervisors, managers and all units to improve competencies in identifying suicidal risk and to improve use and awareness of existing resources. The program also included an education campaign to improve awareness and help-seeking.<sup>111</sup> Police suicides were tracked over 12 years and compared to rates in the control city of Quebec. The suicide rate in the intervention group decreased significantly by 78.9% to a rate of 6.4 suicides per 100,000 population per year compared to an 11% increase in the control city (29.0 per 100,000).<sup>111</sup>

Another example of this approach is the *United States Air Force Suicide Prevention Program*. The program included 11 policy and education initiatives and was designed to change the culture of the Air Force surrounding suicide. The program uses leaders as role models and agents of change, establishes expectations for behavior related to awareness of suicide risk, develops population skills and knowledge (i.e., education and training), and investigates every suicide (i.e., outcomes measurement). The program represents a fundamental shift from viewing suicide and mental illness solely as medical problems and instead sees them as larger service-wide problems impacting the whole community.<sup>112</sup> Using a time-series design to examine the impact of the program on various violence-related outcomes, researchers found that the program was associated with a 33% relative risk reduction in suicide.<sup>112</sup> The program was also associated with relative risk reductions in related outcomes including moderate and severe family violence (30% and 54%, respectively), homicide (51%), and accidental death (18%).<sup>112</sup> A longitudinal assessment of the program over the period 1981 to 2008 (16 years before the 1997 launch of the program and 11 years post-launch) found significantly lower rates of suicide after the program was launched than before.<sup>87</sup> These effects were sustained over time, except in 2004, which the authors found was associated with less rigorous implementation of program components in that year than in the other years.<sup>87</sup>

Finally, while the evidence is still being built for suicide prevention in correctional facilities, preliminary evidence suggests organizational policies and practices that include routine suicide prevention training for all staff; standardized intake screening and risk assessment; provision of shared information between staff members (especially in transitioning or transferring of inmates); varying levels of observation; safe physical environment; emergency response protocols; notification of suicidal behavior/suicide through the chain of command; and critical incident stress debriefing and death review can potentially reduce suicide.<sup>102</sup> When these policies and practices were implemented across 11 state prisons in Louisiana, suicide rates dropped 46%, from a rate of 23.1 per 100,000 before the intervention to 12.4 per 100,000 the following year.<sup>113</sup> Similar programs have seen declines in suicide both in the United States and in other countries.<sup>114</sup>

**Community-based policies to reduce excessive alcohol use.** While multiple policies to limit excessive use of alcohol exist, several studies on alcohol outlet density and risk factors for suicide, such as interpersonal violence and social connectedness,<sup>115-118</sup> suggest that measures to reduce alcohol outlet density can potentially reduce alcohol-involved suicides. Additionally, a longitudinal analysis of alcohol outlet density, suicide mortality, and hospitalizations for suicide attempts over 6 years in 581 California zip codes, indicated that greater density of bars, specifically, was related to greater suicide and suicide attempts, particularly in rural areas.<sup>119</sup>





## **Promote Connectedness**

## Rationale

Sociologist, Emile Durkheim theorized in 1897 that weak social bonds, i.e., lack of connectedness, were among the chief causes of suicidality.<sup>120</sup> Connectedness is the degree to which an individual or group of individuals are socially close, interrelated, or share resources with others.<sup>121</sup> Social connections can be formed within and between multiple levels of the social ecology,<sup>17</sup> for instance between individuals (e.g., peers, neighbors, co-workers), families, schools, neighborhoods, workplaces, faith communities, cultural groups, and society as a whole. Related to connectedness, social capital refers to a sense of trust in one's community and neighborhood, social integration, and also the availability and participation in social organizations.<sup>122,123</sup> Many ecological cross-sectional and longitudinal studies have examined the impact of aspects of social capital on depression symptoms, depressive disorder, mental health more generally, and suicide. While the evidence is limited, existing studies suggest a positive association between social capital (as measured by social trust and community/neighborhood engagement), and improved mental health.<sup>124,125</sup> Connectedness and social capital together may protect against suicidal behaviors by decreasing isolation, encouraging adaptive coping behaviors, and by increasing belongingness, personal value, and worth, to help build resilience in the face of adversity. Connectedness can also provide individuals with better access to formal supports and resources, mobilize communities to meet the needs of its members and provide collective primary prevention activities to the community as a whole.<sup>121</sup>

#### **Approaches**

Promoting connectedness among individuals and within communities through modeling peer norms and enhancing community engagement may protect against suicide.

**Peer norm programs** seek to normalize protective factors for suicide such as help-seeking, reaching out and talking to trusted adults, and promote peer connectedness. By leveraging the leadership qualities and social influence of peers, these approaches can be used to shift group-level beliefs and promote positive social and behavioral change. These approaches typically target youth and are delivered in school settings but can also be implemented in community settings.<sup>126</sup>

**Community engagement activities**. Community engagement is an aspect of social capital.<sup>127</sup> Community engagement approaches may involve residents participating in a range of activities, including religious activities, community clean-up and greening activities, and group physical exercise. These activities provide opportunities for residents to become more involved in the community and to connect with other community members, organizations, and resources, resulting in enhanced overall physical health, reduced stress, and decreased depressive symptoms, thereby reducing risk of suicide.



#### **Potential Outcomes**

- Increases in healthy coping attitudes and behaviors
- Increases in referrals for youth in distress
- Increases in help-seeking behaviors
- Increases in positive perceptions of adult support

Promoting connectedness among individuals and within communities may protect against suicide.

28



#### **Evidence**

Current evidence suggests a number of positive benefits of peer norm and community engagement activities, although more evaluation research is needed to examine whether these improvements in factors that protect against suicidal behavior translate into reduced suicide attempts and deaths.

Peer norm programs. Evaluations show that programs such as Sources of Strength can improve school norms and beliefs about suicide that are created and disseminated by student peers. In a randomized controlled trial of Sources of Strength conducted with 18 highschools (6 metropolitan, 12 rural), researchers found that the program improved adaptive norms regarding suicide, connectedness to adults, and school engagement.<sup>36</sup> Peer leaders were also more likely than controls to refer a suicidal friend to an adult. For students, the program resulted in increased perceptions of adult support for suicidal youths, particularly among those with a history of suicidal ideation, and the acceptability of help-seeking behaviors. Finally, trained peer leaders also reported a greater decrease in maladaptive coping attitudes compared with untrained leaders.<sup>36</sup>



**Community engagement activities.** A vacant lot greening initiative was undertaken in Philadelphia between 1999 and 2008. Local residents and community members worked together to green 4,436 lots (or 7.8 million square feet) in four areas of the city. Researchers found significant reductions in community residents' self-reported level of stress, a risk factor for suicide, and engagement in more physical exercise, a protective factor for suicide, than residents in control vacant lot areas. There is some evidence for other cross-cutting benefits, including reductions in firearm assaults and vandalism.<sup>128,129</sup>





## **Teach Coping and Problem-Solving Skills**

#### Rationale

Building life skills prepares individuals to successfully tackle every day challenges and adapt to stress and adversity. Life skills encompasses many concepts, but most often include coping and problem-solving skills, emotional regulation, conflict resolution, and critical thinking. Life skills are important in protecting individuals from suicidal behaviors.<sup>126</sup> Suicide prevention programs that focus on life and social skills training are drawn from social cognitive theories,<sup>130</sup> surmising that suicidal behavior is attributed to either direct learning and modeling or environmental and individual (e.g., hopelessness) characteristics. The inability to employ adequate strategies to cope with immediate stressors or identify and find solutions for problems has been characterized among suicide attempters.<sup>131</sup> Teaching and providing youth with the skills to tackle every day challenges and stressors is, therefore, an important developmental component to suicide prevention.

## **Approaches**

Social-emotional learning programs and parenting skill and family relationship programs are two approaches for teaching coping and problem-solving skills.

**Social-emotional learning programs** focus on developing and strengthening communication and problem-solving skills, emotional regulation, conflict resolution, help seeking and coping skills. These approaches address a range of risk and protective factors for suicidal behavior. They provide children and youth with skills to resolve problems in relationships, school, and with peers, and help youth address other negative influences (e.g., substance use) associated with suicide.<sup>126</sup> These approaches are typically delivered to all students in a particular grade or school, although some programs also focus on groups of students considered to be at high risk for suicide. Opportunities to practice and reinforce skills are an important part of programs that work.<sup>132</sup>

**Parenting skill and family relationship programs** provide caregivers with support and are designed to strengthen parenting skills, enhance positive parent-child interactions, and improve children's behavioral and emotional skills and abilities.<sup>132</sup> Programs are typically designed for parents or caregivers with children in a specific age range and can be self-directed or delivered to individual families or groups of families. Some programs have sessions primarily with parents or caregivers while others include sessions for parents or caregivers, youth, and the family. Specific program content typically varies by the age of the child but often has consistent themes of child development, parent-child communication and relationships, and youth's interpersonal and problem-solving skills.



#### **Potential Outcomes**

- Reductions in suicide ideation
- Reductions in suicide attempts
- Reductions in suicide risk behaviors (i.e., depression, anxiety, conduct problems, substance abuse)
- Improvements in help-seeking behavior
- Improvements in social competence and emotional regulation skills
- Improvements in problem-solving and conflict management skills

#### **Evidence**

32

Several social-emotional learning and parenting and family relationship programs have been shown in rigorous evaluations to improve resilience and reduce problem behavior and risk factors for various behaviors, including ones closely related to suicide, such as depression, internalizing behaviors, and substance abuse.<sup>133</sup>

**Social-emotional learning programs.** The *Youth Aware of Mental Health Program (YAM)* is a program developed for teenagers aged 14–16 that uses interactive dialogue and role-playing to teach adolescents about the risk and protective factors associated with suicide (including knowledge about depression and anxiety) and enhances their problem-solving skills for dealing with adverse life events, stress, school and other problems.<sup>134</sup> In a cluster-randomized controlled trial conducted across 10 European Union countries and 168 schools, students in schools randomized to *YAM* were significantly less likely to attempt suicide and have severe suicidal ideation at the 12-month follow-up compared to students in control schools which received educational materials and care as usual. Overall, the relative risk of youth suicide attempts among the *YAM* group was reduced by over 50% demonstrating that out of 1000 students, five attempted suicide in the *YAM* group compared to 11 in the control group. Additionally, related to severe suicide ideation, in the *YAM* group, relative risk fell by 49.6%.<sup>134</sup>

Another example is the Good Behavior Game (GBG), which is a classroom-based program for elementary school children aged 6–10. The program uses a team-based behavior management strategy that promotes good behavior by setting clear expectations for good behavior and consequences for maladaptive behavior. The goal of the GBG program is to create an integrated classroom social system that is supportive of all children being able to learn with little aggressive or disruptive behavior.<sup>135</sup> Two cohorts of youths participated in the program in 1985-86 and 1986-87 school years when they were in the first and second grades. A number of proximal and distal outcomes were assessed among the two cohorts over time. With respect to distal suicide-related outcomes, an outcome evaluation of the GBG indicated that individuals in the first cohort, who were assigned to participate in GBG when they were in the first grade, reported half the adjusted odds of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts when assessed approximately 15 years later, between the ages of 19 to 21, compared to peers who had been in a standard classroom setting. The beneficial effect of the program was consistent for suicidal ideation regardless of whether baseline covariates were included.<sup>135</sup> The GBG effect on attempts was less robust in some adjusted models including caregiver mental health. In the second cohort of GBG students, neither suicidal ideation nor suicide attempts were significantly different between GBG and the control interventions.<sup>135</sup> The researchers believed this may have been due to a lack of implementation fidelity, including less mentoring and monitoring of teachers. GBG was also found to be associated with reduced risk of later substance abuse and other suicide risk factors among the first cohort of students. Results for the second cohort were generally smaller but in the desired direction.<sup>136</sup>



**Parenting skill and family relationship programs.** Parenting and family skills training approaches have shown promising impacts in preventing key risk factors associated with suicide. For example, the *Incredible Years (IY)* is a comprehensive group training program for parents, teachers and children designed to reduce conduct and substance abuse problems (two important suicide risk factors in youth) by improving protective factors such as responsive and positive parent-teacher-child interactions and relationships, emotional self-regulation and social competence (all protective factors for suicide).<sup>132</sup> The program includes 9-20 sessions offered in community-based settings (e.g., religious, recreation centers, mental health treatment centers, and hospitals). Several studies have demonstrated the effect of the *IY* program on reducing internalizing symptoms, such as anxiety and depression, and child conduct problems.<sup>137,138</sup> The program is also associated with improved problem-solving and conflict management; these skills were maintained at 1-year follow-up.<sup>139-141</sup> Additionally, the program demonstrated greater benefits in mother-rated child internalizing symptoms, compared to the waitlisted control group, when parent, child, and teacher components were included.<sup>132</sup>

Additionally, *Strengthening Families 10–14* is a program that involves sessions for parents, youth, and families with the goal of improving parents' skills for disciplining, managing emotions and conflict, and communicating with their children; promoting youths' interpersonal and problem-solving skills; and creating family activities to build cohesion and positive parent-child interactions. The premise of the program is that developing these skills for both parents and children will reduce internalizing behavior and adolescent substance abuse, two important risk factors for suicide.<sup>142</sup> *Strengthening Families* has been shown to significantly decrease externalizing behaviors, such as aggression, alcohol use, and drug use among youth participants, as well as reduce depression, alcohol use, and drug use among participating families.<sup>142</sup>

Parenting and family skills training approaches have shown promising impacts in preventing key risk factors associated with suicide.




# **Identify and Support People at Risk**

#### Rationale

In order to decrease suicide, care of, and attention to, vulnerable populations is necessary, as these groups tend to experience suicidal behavior at higher than average rates. Such vulnerable populations include, but are not limited to, individuals with lower socio-economic status or who are living with a mental health problem; people who have previously attempted suicide; Veterans and active duty military personnel; individuals who are institutionalized, have been victims of violence, or are homeless; individuals of sexual minority status; and members of certain racial and ethnic minority groups.<sup>8,9,12,13,143</sup> Supporting people at risk requires proactive case finding and effective response, crisis intervention, and evidence-based treatment. Finding optimal ways of identifying at risk individuals, customizing services to make them more accessible (e.g., Internet-based services when appropriate) and engaging people in evidence-based care (e.g., through such measures as collaborative treatment), remain key challenges.<sup>81,144,145</sup> Simply improving or expanding services does not guarantee that those services will be used by people most in need, nor will it necessarily increase the number of people who follow recommended referrals or treatment. For example, some people living in disadvantaged communities may face social and economic issues that can adversely affect their ability to access supportive services.<sup>70</sup>

### **Approaches**

The following approaches focus on identifying and supporting people at increased risk of suicide.

**Gatekeeper training** is designed to train teachers, coaches, clergy, emergency responders, primary and urgent care providers, and others in the community to identify people who may be at risk of suicide and to respond effectively, including facilitating treatment seeking and support services. Gatekeeper training may be implemented in a variety of settings to identify and support people at risk.<sup>146</sup>

**Crisis intervention**. These approaches provide support and referral services, typically by connecting a person in crisis (or a friend or family member of someone at risk) to trained volunteers or professional staff via telephone hotline, online chat, text messaging, or in-person. Crisis intervention approaches are intended to impact key risk factors for suicide, including feelings of depression, hopelessness, and subsequent mental health care utilization.<sup>147</sup> Similar to means reduction, crisis interventions can put space or time between an individual who may be considering suicide and harmful behavior.

**Treatment for people at risk of suicide** can include various forms of psychotherapy delivered by licensed providers to help individuals with mental health problems and other suicide risk factors with problem-solving and emotional regulation. Treatment usually takes place in a one-on-one or group format between patients and clinicians and can vary in duration from several weeks to ongoing therapy, as needed. Treatment that employs collaborative (i.e., between patient and therapist or care manager) and/or integrated care (e.g., linkage between primary care and behavioral health care) can help engage and motivate patients, thereby increasing retention in therapy and decreasing suicide risk.<sup>148-150</sup>



**Treatment to prevent re-attempts.** These approaches typically include follow-up contact and use diverse modalities (e.g., home visits, mail, telephone, e-mail) to engage recent suicide attempt survivors in continued treatment to prevent re-attempts.<sup>151</sup> Treatment may focus on improved coping skills, mindfulness, and other emotional regulation skills, and may include case management home visits to increase adherence to treatment and continuity of care; and one-on-one interpersonal therapy and/or group therapy. Approaches that engage and connect people who have attempted to peers and providers are especially important because many attempters do not present to aftercare; 12%-25% re-attempt within a year, and 3%-9% of attempt survivors die by suicide within 1 to 5 years of their initial attempt.<sup>151</sup>

#### **Potential Outcomes**

- Reductions in suicidal ideation
- Reductions in suicide attempts
- Reductions in suicide rates
- Reductions in depression and feelings of hopelessness
- Reductions in re-attempts
- Improvements in coping skills
- Increases in treatment engagement and compliance with medications

#### **Evidence**

The current evidence suggests that identifying people at risk of suicide and the continued provision of treatment and support for these individuals can positively impact suicide and its associated risk factors.

**Gatekeeper training**. *Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training (ASIST)* is a widely implemented training program that helps hotline counselors, emergency workers, and other gatekeepers to identify and connect with suicidal individuals, understand their reasoning for living and dying, and assist with safely connecting those in need to available resources. In a study employing a randomized controlled trial, Gould, Cross, Pisani, Munfakh, & Kleinman<sup>152</sup> evaluated the training across the *National Suicide Prevention Lifeline* network of hotlines over the period 2008-2009. Using data from 1,410 suicidal individuals who called 17 Lifeline centers, the researchers found that callers who spoke with *ASIST*-trained



counselors were significantly more likely to feel less depressed, less suicidal, less overwhelmed, and more hopeful by the end of their call, compared to callers who spoke to non-*ASIST* trained counselors. Counselors trained in *ASIST* were also more skilled at keeping callers on the phone longer and establishing a connection with them. However, training in *ASIST* did not result in more comprehensive suicide risk assessments than usual care training.<sup>152</sup>

Gatekeeper training has also been a primary component of the *Garret Lee Smith (GLS) Suicide Prevention Program,* which has been implemented in 50 states and 50 tribes. A multi-site evaluation assessed the impact of community gatekeeper training on suicide attempts and deaths by comparing the change in suicide rates and nonfatal suicidal behavior among young people aged 10–24 in counties implementing *GLS* trainings, with the trajectory observed in similar counties that did not implement these trainings. Counties that implemented *GLS* trainings had significantly lower youth suicide rates one year following the training implementation.<sup>153</sup> This finding equates to a decrease of 1 suicide death per 100,000 youth ages 10 to 24, or the prevention of approximately 237 deaths in the age group, between 2007 and 2010. Counties implementing *GLS* program activities also had significantly lower suicide attempt rates among youth ages 16 to 23 in the year following implementation of the *GLS* program than did similar counties that did not implement *GLS* activities (4.9 fewer attempts per 1000 youths).<sup>154</sup> More than 79,000 suicide attempts may have been prevented during the period examined.

**Crisis intervention.** Suicide prevention hotlines are one way to provide crisis intervention. In an evaluation of the effectiveness of the *National Suicide Prevention Lifeline* to prevent suicide, 1,085 suicidal individuals who called the hotline completed a standard risk assessment for suicide, and 380 of those completed a follow-up assessment between 1 and 52 days (mean=13.5 days) after the initial assessment. Researchers found that over half of the initial sample were seriously considering suicide when they called, and they had a plan for their suicide. Researchers also found that among follow-up participants, there was a significant decrease in psychological pain, hopelessness, and intent to die between initiation of the call (time 1) to follow-up (time 3).<sup>155</sup> Between time 2 (end of the call) to time 3, the effect remained for psychological pain and hopelessness, but was not significant for intent to die, suggesting that greater effort at outreach during and following the call is needed for callers with high levels of suicide intent.<sup>155</sup>

**Treatment for people at risk of suicide**. The *Improving Mood—Promoting Access to Collaborative Treatment (IMPACT)* program aims to prevent suicide among older primary care patients by reducing suicide ideation and depression. *IMPACT* facilitates the development of a therapeutic alliance, a personalized treatment plan that includes patient preferences, as well as proactive follow-up (biweekly during an acute phase and monthly during continuation phase) by a depression care manager.<sup>156</sup> The program has been shown to significantly improve quality of life, and to reduce functional impairment, depression and suicidal ideation over 24-months of follow-up<sup>156,157</sup> relative to patients who received care as usual.

*Collaborative Assessment and Management of Suicidality (CAMS)*, is a therapeutic approach for suicide-specific assessment and treatment. The program's flexible approach can be used across treatment settings and clinician theoretical orientations and involves the clinician and patient working together in an interactive assessment process to develop patient-specific treatment plans. Sessions are collaborative and involve constant patient input about what is and is not working with the ultimate goal of enhancing the therapeutic alliance and increasing treatment motivation in the suicidal patient. *CAMS* has been tested and supported in 6 correlational studies,<sup>144</sup> in a variety of inpatient and outpatient settings, and in one RCT with several additional RCTs under way. A feasibility trial with a community-based sample of suicidal outpatients randomly assigned to *CAMS* or enhanced care as usual (intake with a psychiatrist or psychiatric nurse practitioner followed by 1-11 visits with a case manager and medication as needed) found better treatment retention among the *CAMS* group and significant improvements in suicidal ideation, overall symptom distress, and feelings of hopelessness at the 12 month follow-up.<sup>158</sup>



Other examples include *Dialectical Behavioral Therapy (DBT)* and *Attachment-Based Family Therapy (ABFT)*. *DBT* is a multicomponent therapy for individuals at high risk for suicide and who may struggle with impulsivity and emotional regulation issues. The components of *DBT* include individual therapy, group skills training, between-session telephone coaching and a therapist consultation team. In a randomized controlled trial of women with recent suicidal or self-injurious behavior, those receiving *DBT* were half as likely to make a suicide attempt at the two-year follow-up than women receiving community treatment (23% vs 46%), required less hospitalization for suicide ideation, and had lower medical risk across all suicide attempts and self-injurious acts combined.<sup>159</sup>

*ABFT* is a program for adolescents aged 12–18 and is designed to treat clinically diagnosed major depressive disorder, eliminate suicidal ideation, and reduce dispositional anxiety.<sup>160</sup> A randomized controlled trial of *ABFT* found that suicidal adolescents assigned to *ABFT* experienced significantly greater improvement in suicidal ideation over 24 weeks of follow-up than did adolescents assigned to enhanced usual care. Additionally, a significantly higher percentage of *ABFT* participants reported no suicidal ideation in the week prior to assessment at 12 weeks than did adolescents receiving enhanced usual care (69.2% vs. 34.6%) and at 24 weeks (82.1% vs. 46.2%).<sup>160</sup>

The Veterans Affairs *Translating Initiatives for Depression into Effective Solutions* project (*TIDES*) uses a depression care liaison to link primary care and mental health services. The depression care liaison assesses and educates patients and follows-up with both patients and providers between primary care visits to optimize treatment. This collaborative care increases the efficiency of providing mental health services by bringing mental health care to the primary care setting, where most patients are first detected and subsequently treated for many mental health conditions. An evaluation of *TIDES* found significant decreases in depression severity scores among 70% of primary care patients.<sup>161</sup> *TIDES* patients also demonstrated 85% and 95% compliance with medication and follow-up visits, respectively.<sup>161</sup>

**Treatment to prevent re-attempts.** Several strategies that aim to prevent re-attempts have demonstrated impact on reducing suicide deaths. For example, *Emergency Department Brief Intervention with Follow-up Visits* is a program that involves a one-hour discharge information session that addresses suicidal ideation and attempts, distress, risk and protective factors, alternatives to self-harm, and referral options, combined with nine follow-up contacts over 18 months (at 1, 2, 4, 7, 11 weeks and 4, 6, 12, 18 months). Follow-up contacts are either conducted by phone or through home visits according to a specific timeline for up to 18 months. A randomized controlled trial that enrolled suicide attempters from eight hospital emergency departments in five countries (Brazil, India, Sri Lanka, Iran, and China) found that a brief intervention combined with nine follow-up visits over 18 months was associated with significantly fewer deaths from suicide relative to a treatment-as-usual group (0.2% versus 2.2%, respectively).<sup>162</sup>

Another example of treatment to prevent re-attempts involves *active follow-up contact approaches* such as postcards, letters, and telephone calls intended to increase a patient's sense of connectedness with health care providers and decrease isolation.<sup>151</sup> These approaches include expression of care and support and typically invite patients to reconnect with their provider. Contacts are made periodically (e.g., monthly or every few months in the first 12 months post-discharge with some programs continuing contact for two or more years). In a meta-analysis conducted by Inagaki et al<sup>151</sup> interventions to prevent repeat suicide attempts in patients admitted to an emergency department for suicide attempt were found to reduce re-attempts by approximately 17% for up to 12 months post-discharge; however, the effects of these approaches beyond 12 months on re-attempts has not yet been demonstrated.<sup>151</sup> Also, because the number of trials and associated sample sizes included in this meta-analysis were small, it was not possible to determine the effect of active contact and follow-up approaches on suicide.



In a randomized controlled trial of the post-crisis suicide prevention long-term follow-up contact approach, Motto and Bostrom<sup>163</sup> found that patients who refused ongoing care but who were randomized to be contacted by letter four times per year had a lower rate of suicide over two years of follow-up than did patients in the control group who received no further contact. Other studies have also shown post-crisis letters and coping cards to be protective against suicide ideation and attempts.<sup>164,165</sup>

Finally, *Cognitive Behavior Therapy for Suicide Prevention (CBT-SP)* is an example of a therapeutic approach to prevent re-attempts. It uses a risk-reduction, relapse prevention approach that includes an analysis of proximal risk factors and stressors (e.g., relationship problems, school or work-related difficulties) leading up to and following the suicide attempt; safety plan development; skill building; and psychoeducation. *CBT-SP* also has family skill modules focused on family support and communication patterns as well as improving the family's problem-solving skills. A randomized controlled trial of *CBT-SP* found that 10-session outpatient cognitive therapy designed to prevent repeat suicide attempts resulted in a 50% reduction in the likelihood of a suicide re-attempt among adults who had been admitted to an emergency department for a suicide attempt relative to treatment as usual.<sup>166</sup>







### **Lessen Harms and Prevent Future Risk**

#### Rationale

Millions of people are bereaved by suicide every year in the United States and throughout the world.<sup>5</sup> Risk of suicide and suicide risk factors has been shown to increase among people who have lost a friend/peer, family member, co-worker, or other close contact to suicide.<sup>167</sup> Care and attention to the bereaved is therefore of high importance. Despite often good intentions, media and others responding to suicide may add to this risk. For example, research suggests that exposure to sensationalized or otherwise uninformed reporting on suicide may heighten the risk of suicide among vulnerable individuals and can inadvertently contribute to what is known as suicide contagion.<sup>168,169</sup>

#### **Approaches**

Some approaches that can be used to lessen harms and reduce future risk of suicide include postvention and safe reporting and messaging following a suicide.

**Postvention** approaches are implemented *after* a suicide has taken place and may include debriefing sessions, counseling, and/or bereavement support groups for surviving friends, family members, or other close contacts. These programs have not typically been evaluated for their impact on suicide, attempts, or ideation, but they may reduce survivors' guilt, feelings of depression, and complicated grief.<sup>170</sup>

**Safe reporting and messaging about suicide.** The manner in which information on a recent suicide is communicated to the public (e.g., school assemblies, mass media, social media) can heighten the risk of suicide among vulnerable individuals and can inadvertently contribute to suicide contagion. Reports that are inclusive of suicide prevention messages, stories of hope and resilience, risk and protective factors, and links to helping resources (e.g., hotline), and that avoid sensationalizing events or reducing suicide to one cause, can help reduce the likelihood of suicide contagion.<sup>171</sup>

#### **Potential Outcomes**

- Reductions in suicidal ideation
- Reductions in suicide attempts
- Reductions in rates of suicide
- Reductions in psychological distress
- Improvements in reporting following suicide
- Reductions in contagion effects related to suicide





#### **Evidence**

Current evidence suggests that postvention and safe reporting and messaging can impact risk and protective factors for suicide.

**Postvention**. One example of a postvention program with evidence of impact on risk and protective factors for suicide is the *StandBy Response Service (StandBy)*. *StandBy* provides clients with face-to-face outreach and telephone support through a professional crisis response team. Site coordinators develop customized case management plans, referring clients to other existing community services matched to their needs.<sup>172</sup> In a study by Visser, Comans, and Scuffham,<sup>172</sup> *StandBy* clients were significantly less likely to be at high risk for suicidality (suicide ideation and attempts) and had less psychological distress than a suicide bereaved comparison group who had not had contact with the *StandBy* program (48% and 64% respectively). Additionally, research suggests that active postvention approaches in which outreach to suicide survivors occurs at the scene of a suicide is associated with intake into treatment sooner, greater attendance at support group meetings, and attendance at more meetings compared to passive postvention (i.e., approaches where survivors self-refer for services).<sup>173</sup>

**Safe reporting and messaging about suicide.** One way to ensure safe reporting and messaging about suicide is to encourage news media to adhere to *Recommendations for Reporting on Suicide* (http://www.reportingonsuicide. org). The most compelling evidence supporting these recommendations for reporting comes from Austria. After a sharp increase in suicides on the Viennese subway, media guidelines were introduced and an interrupted time-series design was used to evaluate the national impact of the guidelines on subsequent suicides. Changes in the quality and quantity of media reporting resulted in a nationwide significant reduction of 81 suicides annually.<sup>169</sup> Finally, research suggests that not only does reporting on suicide in a negative way (e.g., reporting on suicide myths and repetition) have harmful effects on suicide, but reporting on positive coping skills in the face of adversity can also demonstrate protective effects against suicide.<sup>174</sup> Reports of individual suicidal ideation (not accompanied by reports of suicide or suicide attempts) along with reports describing a "mastery" of a crisis situation where adversities were overcome was associated with significant decreases in suicide rates in the time period immediately following such reports.<sup>174</sup>

Postvention and safe reporting and messaging can impact risk and protective factors for suicide.



### **Sector Involvement**

Public health can play an important and unique role in addressing suicide. Public health agencies, which typically place prevention at the forefront of efforts and work to create broad population-level impact, can bring critical leadership and resources to bear on this problem. For example, these agencies can serve as a convener, bringing together partners and stakeholders to plan, prioritize, and coordinate suicide prevention efforts. Public health agencies are also well positioned to collect and disseminate data, implement preventive measures, evaluate programs, and track progress. Although public health can play a leadership role in preventing suicide, the strategies and approaches outlined in this technical package cannot be accomplished by the public health sector alone. As noted in the *National Strategy for Suicide Prevention*,<sup>1</sup> the integration and coordination of prevention activities across sectors and settings is critical for expanding the reach and impact of suicide prevention efforts.

Other sectors vital to implementing this package include, but are not limited to, education, government (local, state, and federal), social services, health services, business, labor, justice, housing, media, and organizations that comprise the civil society sector such as faith-based organizations, youth-serving organizations, foundations, and other non-governmental organizations. Collectively, these sectors can make a difference in preventing suicide by impacting the various contexts and underlying risks that contribute to suicide.

The strategies and approaches described in this technical package are summarized in the Appendix along with the relevant sectors that are well positioned to lead implementation efforts. For example, business and labor, the health sector (including insurers, providers, and health systems), and government entities are in the best position to implement programs and policies that *Strengthen Economic Supports* and *Strengthen Access and Delivery of Suicide Care*. These types of supports go beyond individual behavior change and require commitment and support from those sectors that can directly address some of the underlying risks and the environmental contexts that increase the risk for suicide. Public health entities can play an important role by gathering and synthesizing information to inform policy, raise awareness, and evaluate the effectiveness of various policies. Moreover, partnerships with non-governmental and community organizations can be instrumental in increasing awareness of and garnering support for policies affecting individuals and families.

The public health sector has been at the forefront of many community-based prevention efforts, working collaboratively with schools and community-based organizations, to change social norms and positively impact health behavior. Public health is well suited to take on a similar leadership role in *Promoting Connectedness* through peer norm and community engagement activities and supporting the development, evaluation, and adoption of effective programs that *Teach Coping and Problem-Solving Skills* to prevent the risk of suicide in the first place. These programs are often delivered in school and community settings, making education and non-governmental organizations vital partners in prevention.

Businesses, workplaces, and local and state government entities, on the other hand, are in the best position to establish policies and support practices that *Create Protective Environments* where people live, work, and play. Public health entities can serve in an important role by gathering and synthesizing information, working with other governmental agencies (e.g., criminal justice, defense) and agencies within the executive branch of their state or local government in support of policy and other approaches, and evaluating the effectiveness of measures taken. In a similar fashion, public health entities can partner with schools, workplaces, and community organizations to implement and evaluate prevention programs, policies and practices geared toward creating safe, healthy, and supportive environments.



Finally, this technical package includes a number of interventions delivered in hospital, primary care, behavioral health care, and community settings designed to *Identify and Support People at Risk*. The intensity and activities for many of these interventions require the expertise of professionals who are licensed and trained to deliver critical intervention support. The health, social services, and justice sectors can work collaboratively to support individuals at high-risk for suicide and their families. These activities also require coordination of supports across various service providers and community organizations.

Regardless of strategy, action by many sectors will be necessary for the successful implementation of this package. In this regard, all sectors can play an important and influential role in preventing the risk of suicide in the first place and lessening the immediate and long-term harms of suicidal behavior by helping those in times of crisis get the services and support they need.

All sectors can play an important and influential role in preventing suicide.



## **Monitoring and Evaluation**

Monitoring and evaluation are necessary components of the public health approach to prevention. It is important to have timely and reliable data to monitor the extent of the problem and to evaluate the impact of prevention efforts. Data are also necessary for prevention planning and implementation.

Gathering ongoing and systematic data is important for prevention efforts. However, it is also important to gather data that are uniform and consistent across systems. Consistent data allow public health and other entities to better gauge the scope of the problem, identify high-risk groups, and monitor the effects of prevention programs and policies. Currently, it is common for different sectors, agencies, and organizations to employ varying definitions of suicidal ideation, behavior, and death that can make it difficult to consistently monitor specific outcomes across sectors and over time. For example, the manner in which deaths are classified can change from one jurisdiction to another, and can change based on local medical and/or medico-legal standards.<sup>4</sup> CDC's uniform definitions and recommended data elements for self-directed violence provide a useful framework to help ensure that data are collected in a consistent manner across surveillance systems.<sup>4</sup>

Surveillance systems exist at the federal, state, and local levels. It is important to assess the availability of surveillance data and data systems across these levels to identify and address gaps in the systems. CDC's National Vital Statistics System (NVSS)<sup>7</sup> and the National Violent Death Reporting System (NVDRS)<sup>175</sup> are examples of surveillance systems that provide data on deaths from suicide. NVSS is a nationwide surveillance system that collects demographic, geographic, and cause-ofdeath data from death certificates.7 NVDRS is a state-based surveillance system (currently in 40 states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico) that combines data from death certificates, law enforcement reports, and coroner or medical examiner reports to provide detailed information on the circumstances of violent deaths, including suicide, which can assist communities in guiding prevention approaches.<sup>175</sup> Data from state and local Child Death Review teams<sup>176</sup> and Suicide Death Review Teams (which are in a few states) offer another source to identify deaths and obtain insight into the gaps in services, systems, and modifiable risk factors for suicide.





The National Electronic Injury Surveillance System-All Injury Program (NEISS-AIP) provides nationally representative data about all types and causes of nonfatal injuries treated in U.S. hospital emergency departments, and can be used to assess national rates of, and trends in, self-harm injuries by cause (e.g., falls, poisoning, etc.), age, race/ ethnicity, sex, disposition (where the injured person goes when released from the emergency department).<sup>6</sup>

In addition to information on deaths and nonfatal injuries, there are also surveillance systems that provide national, state, and some local estimates of suicidal behavior. The *Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System (YRBSS)* collects information from a nationally representative sample of 9–12 grade students and is a key resource in monitoring health-risk behaviors among youth, including whether youth have seriously considered attempting suicide, attempted suicide, made a plan, or required treatment by a doctor or nurse for a suicide attempt that resulted in an injury, poisoning, or overdose.<sup>177</sup> The *YRBSS* data are obtained from a national school-based survey conducted by CDC as well as from state, territorial, tribal, and large urban school district surveys conducted by education and health agencies.<sup>177</sup> The *National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH)*<sup>50</sup> is an annual survey of the civilian, non-institutionalized population aged 12 years and older. *NSDUH* provides both national and state-level estimates of substance use (alcohol, tobacco, illicit drugs, and non-medical use of prescription drugs); mental health (past year mental illness, co-occurring illnesses); and service utilization, along with suicide ideation, suicide plans, and suicide attempts. *NSDUH* is a key resource to track trends in suicide-related risk factors in the population and to help identify groups at increased risk.<sup>50</sup>

It is also important at all levels (local, state, and federal) to address gaps in responses, track progress of prevention efforts and evaluate the impact of those efforts, including the impact of this technical package. Evaluation data, produced through program implementation and monitoring, is essential to provide information on what does and does not work to reduce rates of suicide and its associated risk and protective factors. Theories of change and logic models that identify short, intermediate, and long-term outcomes are an important part of program evaluation.

The evidence-base for suicide prevention has advanced greatly over the last few decades. However, additional research is needed to understand the impact of programs, policies, and practices on suicide (and suicide attempts, at a minimum), as opposed to merely examining their effectiveness on risk factors. More research is also needed to examine the effectiveness of primary prevention strategies (before risk occurs) and community-level strategies to prevent suicide at the population level. It will be important for researchers to test the effectiveness of combinations of the strategies and approaches included in this package. Most existing evaluations focus on approaches implemented in isolation, but there is potential to understand the synergistic effects within a comprehensive prevention approach. Lastly, there are also many potential opportunities to build and strengthen partnerships across program areas (e.g., violence prevention, substance abuse prevention) to evaluate the impact of different approaches on multiple outcomes.



### Conclusion

Suicide is a serious public health problem. Rates of suicide have been on the rise for more than a decade and the costs stretch well into the billions of dollars each year. While suicide is a rare outcome statistically, its human impact has a ripple effect that is far-reaching. Each of us likely interacts with suicide survivors, those with lived experience, and those with thoughts of suicide on a daily basis—at home, at work, and in our communities. Suicide and suicide attempts are public health issues of societal concern. There are a number of barriers that have impeded progress, including, for example, stigma related to help-seeking, mental illness, being a survivor and fear related to asking someone about suicidal thoughts. Fortunately, like many public health problems, suicide is preventable,<sup>1,5</sup> and more is being done to prevent suicide than ever before, as evidenced by the work of the National Action Alliance for Suicide Prevention,<sup>39,40,75,88</sup> the release of the first world report on suicide,<sup>5</sup> and more timely surveillance data, to name just a few examples.

In an effort to continue pushing the field and society further towards prevention, this technical package includes strategies and approaches that ideally would be used in a comprehensive, multi-level and multi-sectoral way. It includes strategies and approaches to prevent the risk of suicide in the first place, as well as strategies focused on lessening the immediate and long-term harms of suicidal behavior. It includes strategies that range from a focus on the whole population regardless of risk to strategies designed to support people at highest risk. Importantly, this technical package extends the bounds of the typical prevention strategies to consider approaches that go beyond individual behavior change to better address risk factors impacting communities and populations more broadly (e.g., economic policies to strengthen housing and financial security).

While the evidence base continues to emerge, the collection of programs, policies, and practices laid out here are available for implementation now. In keeping with good public health practice, the intent is that monitoring and evaluation will play a key role in that implementation. Moreover, as new evidence becomes available, this technical package can be refined to reflect the current state of the science.

In closing, and in keeping with a message of resilience as spoken by those with lived experience, "hope, help, and healing is possible."

"Hope, help, and healing is possible."





### References

- 1. U.S. Office of the Surgeon General, National Action Alliance for Suicide Prevention. 2012 National strategy for suicide prevention: goals and objectives for action. Washington, D.C.: HHS; 2012.
- 2. National Action Alliance for Suicide Prevention. Action Alliance priorities. 2017; http://actionallianceforsuicideprevention.org/priorities.
- 3. Frieden TR. Six components necessary for effective public health program implementation. *Am J Public Health*. 2014;104(1):17-22.
- 4. Crosby AE, Ortega L, Melanson C. Self-directed violence surveillance: uniform definitions and recommended data elements, version 1.0. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control; 2011.
- 5. World Health Organization. *Suicide prevention: a global imperative*. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press; 2014.
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Web-Based Injury Statistics Query and Reporting System (WISQARS). Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. Available online: http://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/index.html.
- 7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. National Vital Statistics System. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/deaths.htm.
- 8. Bachynski KE, Canham-Chervak M, Black SA, Dada EO, Millikan AM, Jones BH. Mental health risk factors for suicides in the US Army, 2007–8. *Inj Prev.* 2012;18(6):405-412.
- 9. Lineberry TW, O'Connor SS. Suicide in the US Army. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. 2012;87(9):871-878.
- 10. McIntosh WL, Spies E, Stone DM, Lokey CN, Trudeau AR, Bartholow B. Suicide rates by occupational group 17 states, 2012. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*. 2016;65(25):641-645.
- 11. Han B, Crosby AE, Ortega LA, Parks SE, Compton WM, Gfroerer J. Suicidal ideation, suicide attempt, and occupations among employed adults aged 18–64 years in the United States. *Compr Psychiatry*. 2016;66:176-186.
- 12. Kann L, McManus T, Harris WA, et al. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance United States, 2015. *MMWR CDC Surveill Summ*. 2016;65(6):1-174.
- 13. Russell ST, Joyner K. Adolescent sexual orientation and suicide risk: evidence from a national study. *Am J Public Health*. 2001;91(8):1276-1281.
- 14. Stone DM, Luo F, Ouyang L, Lippy C, Hertz MF, Crosby AE. Sexual orientation and suicide ideation, plans, attempts, and medically serious attempts: evidence from local Youth Risk Behavior Surveys, 2001-2009. *Am J Public Health*. 2014;104(2):262-271.
- 15. Crosby AE, Han B, Ortega LA, Parks SE, Gfroerer J. Suicidal thoughts and behaviors among adults aged ≥18 years--United States, 2008-2009. *MMWR CDC Surveill Summ*. 2011;60(13):1-22.
- Lipari R, Piscopo K, Kroutil LA, Kilmer Miller G. Suicidal thoughts and behavior among adults: results from the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. NSDUH Data Review 2015; https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/ NSDUH-FRR2-2014/NSDUH-FRR2-2014.pdf.
- 17. Dahlberg LL, Krug EG. Violence-a global public health problem. In: Krug EG, Dahlberg LL, Mercy JA, Zwi AB, Lozano R, eds. *World Report on Violence and Health*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2002:1-21.
- 18. Owens D. Fatal and non-fatal repetition of self-harm: systematic review. Br J Psychiatry. 2002;181(3):193-199.
- 19. Olfson M, Gerhard T, Huang C, Crystal S, Stroup TS. Premature mortality among adults with schizophrenia in the United States. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2015;72(12):1172-1181.
- 20. Bossarte RM, Karras E, Lu N, et al. Associations between the Dartment of Veterans Affairs' suicide prevention campaign and calls to related crisis lines. *Public Health Rep (Washington, D.C.: 1974)*. 2014;129(6):516-525.



- 21. Chapman DP, Whitfield CL, Felitti VJ, Dube SR, Edwards VJ, Anda RF. Adverse childhood experiences and the risk of depressive disorders in adulthood. *J Affect Disord*. 2004;82(2):217-225.
- 22. Dube SR, Anda RF, Felitti VJ, Chapman DP, Williamson DF, Giles WH. Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span: findings from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. *JAMA*. 2001;286(24):3089-3096.
- 23. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, et al. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: the Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *Am J Prev Med.* 1998;14(4):245-258.
- 24. Klomek AB, Sourander A, Gould M. The association of suicide and bullying in childhood to young adulthood: a review of cross-sectional and longitudinal research findings. *Can J Psychiatry.* 2010;55(5):282-288.
- 25. Leeb RT, Lewis T, Zolotor AJ. A review of physical and mental health consequences of child abuse and neglect and implications for practice. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*. 2011;5(5):454-468.
- 26. World Health Organization. *Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner sexual violence*. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 27. Bellis MA, Hughes K, Leckenby N, et al. Adverse childhood experiences and associations with health-harming behaviours in young adults: surveys in eight eastern European countries. *Bull World Health Organ*. 2014;92(9):641-655.
- 28. Haegerich TM, Dahlberg LL. Violence as a public health risk. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*. 2011;5(5):392-406.
- 29. Wilkins N, Tsao B, Hertz M, Davis R, Klevens J. *Connecting the dots: an overview of the links among multiple forms of violence.* Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2014.
- 30. Hamby S, Grych J. The web of violence: exploring connections among different forms of interpersonal violence and abuse. *Briefs in Sociology*. New York, NY: Springer; 2013.
- 31. Kleiman EM, Riskind JH, Schaefer KE, Weingarden H. The moderating role of social support on the relationship between impulsivity and suicide risk. *Crisis*. 2012;33(5):273-279.
- 32. Carter M, McGee R, Taylor B, Williams S. Health outcomes in adolescence: associations with family, friends and school engagement. *J Adolesc*. 2007;30(1):51-62.
- 33. Maimon D, Browning CR, Brooks-Gunn J. Collective efficacy, family attachment, and urban adolescent suicide attempts. *J Health Soc Behav.* 2010;51(3):307-324.
- 34. Capaldi DM, Knoble NB, Shortt JW, Kim HK. A systematic review of risk factors for intimate partner violence. *Partner Abuse*. 2012;3(2):231-280.
- 35. Losel F, Farrington DP. Direct protective and buffering protective factors in the development of youth violence. *Am J Prev Med.* 2012;43(2 Suppl 1):S8-S23.
- 36. Wyman PA, Brown CH, LoMurray M, et al. An outcome evaluation of the Sources of Strength suicide prevention program delivered by adolescent peer leaders in high schools. *Am J Public Health*. 2010;100(9):1653-1661.
- 37. Dunne EJ, McIntosh JL, Dunne-Maxim K, eds. *Suicide and its aftermath: understanding and counseling the survivors*. New York: Norton; 1987.
- 38. Mishara BL. *The impact of suicide*. New York: Springer; 1995.
- 39. National Action Alliance for Suicide Prevention: Suicide Attempt Survivors Task Force. *The way forward: pathways to hope, recovery, and wellness with insights from lived experience*. Washington, D.C. : Author; 2014.
- 40. National Action Alliance for Suicide Prevention: Survivors of Suicide Loss Task Force. *Responding to grief, trauma, and distress after a suicide: U.S. national guidelines.* Washington, D.C. : Author; 2015.
- 41. Crosby AE, Sacks JJ. Exposure to suicide: incidence and association with suicidal ideation and behavior: United States, 1994. *Suicide Life Threat Behav*. 2002;32(3):321-328.
- 42. Cerel J, Maple M, De Venne A, Moore M, Flaherty C, Brown M. Exposure to suicide in the community: prevalence and correlates in one US state. *Public Health Rep (Washington, D.C.: 1974)*. 2016;131(1):100-107.



- 43. Chapman AL, Dixon-Gordon KL. Emotional antecedents and consequences of deliberate self-harm and suicide attempts. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* 2007;37(5):543-552.
- 44. Mitchell AM, Kim Y, Prigerson HG, Mortimer-Stephens M. Complicated grief in survivors of suicide. *Crisis*. 2004;25(1):12-18.
- 45. Sudak H, Maxim K, Carpenter M. Suicide and stigma: a review of the literature and personal reflections. *Acad Psychiatry*. 2008;32(2):136-142.
- 46. Cerel J, McIntosh JL, Neimeyer RA, Maple M, Marshall D. The continuum of "survivorship": definitional issues in the aftermath of suicide. *Suicide Life Threat Behav*. 2014;44(6):591-600.
- 47. Florence C, Simon T, Haegerich T, Luo F, Zhou C. Estimated lifetime medical and work-loss costs of fatal injuries-United States, 2013. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*. 2015;64(38):1074-1077.
- 48. Shepard DS, Gurewich D, Lwin AK, Reed GA, Jr., Silverman MM. Suicide and suicidal attempts in the United States: costs and policy implications. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* 2016;46(3):352-362.
- 49. Silverman MM, Maris RW. The prevention of suicidal behaviors: an overview. Suicide Life Threat Behav. 1995;25(1):10-21.
- 50. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. National Survey on Drug Use and Health. 2016; https://nsduhwebesn.rti.org/respweb/project\_description.html.
- 51. Desai RA, Dausey DJ, Rosenheck RA. Mental health service delivery and suicide risk: the role of individual patient and facility factors. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2005;162(2):311-318.
- 52. Turecki G. Epigenetics and suicidal behavior research pathways. *Am J Prev Med.* 2014;47(3):S144-S151.
- 53. Edwards RW, Jumper-Thurman P, Plested BA, Oetting ER, Swanson L. Community readiness: research to practice. *Journal of Community Psychology*. 2000;28(3):291-307.
- 54. Hawkins JD, Catalano RF, Kuklinski MR. Communities that care. *Encyclopedia of Criminology and Criminal Justice*: Springer; 2014:393-408.
- 55. Plested BA, Edwards RW, Jumper-Thurman P. Community readiness: a handbook for successful change. Fort Collins, CO: Tri-Ethnic Center for Prevention Research. 2006.
- 56. Luo F, Florence CS, Quispe-Agnoli M, Ouyang L, Crosby AE. Impact of business cycles on US suicide rates, 1928-2007. *Am J Public Health*. 2011;101(6):1139-1146.
- 57. Fowler KA, Gladden RM, Vagi KJ, Barnes J, Frazier L. Increase in suicides associated with home eviction and foreclosure during the US housing crisis: findings from 16 National Violent Death Reporting System States, 2005-2010. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(2):311-316.
- 58. Stack S, Wasserman I. Economic strain and suicide risk: a qualitative analysis. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* 2007;37(1):103-112.
- 59. Cylus J, Glymour MM, Avendano M. Do generous unemployment benefit programs reduce suicide rates? A state fixedeffect analysis covering 1968-2008. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2014;180(1):45-52.
- 60. Classen TJ, Dunn RA. The effect of job loss and unemployment duration on suicide risk in the United States: a new look using mass-layoffs and unemployment duration. *Health Econ*. 2012;21(3):338-350.
- 61. Flavin P, Radcliff B. Public policies and suicide rates in the American states. Social Indicators Research. 2009;90(2):195-209.
- 62. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. Neighborhood Stabilization Program. https://www. hudexchange.info/programs/nsp/, 2017.
- 63. Houle JN, Light MT. The home foreclosure crisis and rising suicide rates, 2005 to 2010. *Am J Public Health*. 2014;104(6):1073-1079.
- 64. Arsenault-Lapierre G, Kim C, Turecki G. Psychiatric diagnoses in 3275 suicides: a meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2004;4:37.
- 65. Harris EC, Barraclough B. Suicide as an outcome for mental disorders: a meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry. 1997;170:205-228.



- 66. Tyrer P, Reed GM, Crawford MJ. Classification, assessment, prevalence, and effect of personality disorder. *Lancet*. 2015;385(9969):717-726.
- 67. Harris EC, Barraclough B. Excess mortality of mental disorder. *Br J Psychiatry*. 1998;173:11-53.
- 68. Mark TL, Shern DL, Bagalman JE, Cao Z. *Ranking America's mental health: an analysis of depression across the states.* Alexandria, VA: Mental Health America. 2007.
- 69. Lang M. The impact of mental health insurance laws on state suicide rates. *Health Econ.* 2013;22(1):73-88.
- 70. Wang PS, Demler O, Kessler RC. Adequacy of treatment for serious mental illness in the United States. *Am J Public Health*. 2002;92(1):92-98.
- 71. Cunningham PJ. Beyond parity: primary care physicians' perspectives on access to mental health care. *Health Aff* (*Millwood*). 2009;28(3):w490-501.
- 72. Coffey CE. Building a system of perfect depression care in behavioral health. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2007;33(4):193-199.
- 73. The Paul Wellstone and Pete Domenici Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act of 2008 (MHPEA), HR 1424, 110<sup>th</sup> Congress. 2008.
- 74. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Health Resources and Services Administrations. Designated health professional shortage areas statistics. https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/nsp/, 2017.
- 75. National Action Alliance for Suicide Prevention: Clinical Workforce Preparedness Task Force. *Suicide prevention and the clinical workforce: guidelines for training*. Washington, D.C.: Author; 2014.
- 76. Harris KM, Carpenter C, Bao Y. The effects of state parity laws on the use of mental health care. *Med Care*. 2006;44(6):499-505.
- 77. Health Resources & Services Administration. National Health Service Corps. 2017; https://www.nhsc.hrsa.gov/.
- 78. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Health Resources and Services Administrations. *National Health Service Corp clinician retention: a story of dedication and commitment*. 2016. https://nhsc.hrsa.gov/currentmembers/ membersites/retainproviders/retentionbrief.pdf.
- 79. Hailey D, Roine R, Ohinmaa A. The effectiveness of telemental health applications: a review. *The Can J Psychiatry*. 2008;53(11):769-778.
- 80. Mohr DC, Vella L, Hart S, Heckman T, Simon G. The effect of telephone-administered psychotherapy on symptoms of depression and attrition: a meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*. 2008;15(3):243-253.
- 81. Coffey CE. Pursuing perfect depression care. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2006;57(10):1524-1526.
- 82. Coffey CE, Coffey MJ, Ahmedani BK. An update on perfect depression care. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2013;64(4):396.
- 83. Coffey M, Coffey C, Ahmedani BK. Suicide in a health maintenance organization population. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2015;72(3):294-296.
- 84. Haddon W. Advances in the epidemiology of injuries as a basis for public policy. *Public Health Rep.* 1980;95(5):411-421.
- 85. Toosi M. Labor force projections to 2024: The labor force is growing, but slowly. Washington, D.C.: Bureau of Labor Statistics; *Monthly Labor Review*. 2015:1-33.
- 86. Noonan ME. Mortality in State Prisons, 2001-2014 Bureau of Justice Statistical Tables. 2016;250150(December).
- 87. Knox KL, Pflanz S, Talcott GW, et al. The US Air Force suicide prevention program: implications for public health policy. *Am J Public Health*. 2010;100(12):2457-2463.
- 88. National Action Alliance for Suicide Prevention Workplace Task Force. *Comprehensive Blueprint for Workplace Suicide Prevention*. Washington, D.C.: Author; 2015.
- 89. Runyan CW, Becker A, Brandspigel S, Barber C, Trudeau A, Novins D. Lethal means counseling for parents of youth seeking emergency care for suicidality. *West J Emerg Med.* 2016;17(1):8-14.



- 90. Miller M, Warren M, Hemenway D, Azrael D. Firearms and suicide in US cities. *Inj Prev.* 2015;21(e1):e116-119.
- 91. Crosby AE, Espitia-Hardeman V, Ortega L, Lozano B. Alcohol and suicide. *Alcohol: Science, Policy and Public Health.* 2013:190-193.
- 92. Kaplan MS, McFarland BH, Huguet N, et al. Acute alcohol intoxication and suicide: a gender-stratified analysis of the National Violent Death Reporting System. *Inj Prev.* 2013;19(1):38-43.
- 93. Beautrais AL, Gibb SJ, Fergusson DM, Horwood LJ, Larkin GL. Removing bridge barriers stimulates suicides: an unfortunate natural experiment. *Aust NZ J Psychiat*. 2009;43(6):495-497.
- 94. Stokes ML, McCoy KP, Abram KM, Byck GR, Teplin LA. Suicidal ideation and behavior in youth in the juvenile justice system: a review of the literature. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*. 2015;21(3):222-242.
- 95. Elnour AA, Harrison J. Lethality of suicide methods. Inj Prev. 2008;14(1):39-45.
- 96. Simon OR, Swann AC, Powell KE, Potter LB, Kresnow MJ, O'Carroll PW. Characteristics of impulsive suicide attempts and attempters. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* 2001;32(1 Suppl):49-59.
- 97. Deisenhammer EA, Ing CM, Strauss R, Kemmler G, Hinterhuber H, Weiss EM. The duration of the suicidal process: how much time is left for intervention between consideration and accomplishment of a suicide attempt? *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2009;70(1):19-24.
- 98. Hawton K. Restricting access to methods of suicide: rationale and evaluation of this approach to suicide prevention. *Crisis*. 2007;28(S1):4-9.
- 99. Yip P, Caine E, Yousuf S, Chang S-S, Wu K, Chen Y-Y. Means restriction for suicide prevention. *Lancet*. 2012;379(9834): 2393-2399.
- 100. Cox GR, Owens C, Robinson J, et al. Interventions to reduce suicides at suicide hotspots: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. 2013;13(1):1-12.
- 101. Rowhani-Rahbar A, Simonetti JA, Rivara FP. Effectiveness of interventions to promote safe firearm storage. *Epidemiol Rev.* 2016;38(1):111-124.
- 102. Hayes LM. Suicide prevention in correctional facilities: reflections and next steps. *Int J Law Psychiatry*. 2013;36(3-4):188-194.
- 103. Giesbrecht N, Huguet N, Ogden L, et al. Acute alcohol use among suicide decedents in 14 US states: impacts of offpremise and on-premise alcohol outlet density. *Addiction*. 2015;110(2):300-307.
- 104. Escobedo LG, Ortiz M. The relationship between liquor outlet density and injury and violence in New Mexico. *Accid Anal Prev.* 2002;34(5):689-694.
- 105. Xuan Z, Naimi TS, Kaplan MS, et al. Alcohol policies and suicide: a review of the literature. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2016;40(10):2043-2055.
- 106. Cherpitel CJ, Borges GLG, Wilcox HC. Acute alcohol use and suicidal behavior: a review of the literature. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research.* 2004;28(5 SUPPL.):18S-28S.
- 107. Pirkis J, Too LS, Spittal MJ, Krysinska K, Robinson J, Cheung YTD. Interventions to reduce suicides at suicide hotspots: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. 2015;2(11):994-1001.
- 108. Perron S, Burrows S, Fournier M, Perron PA, Ouellet F. Installation of a bridge barrier as a suicide prevention strategy in Montreal, Quebec, Canada. *Am J Public Health*. 2013;103(7):1235-1239.
- 109. Beautrais AL. Effectiveness of barriers at suicide jumping sites: a case study. Aust NZ J Psychiat. 2001;35(5):557-562.
- 110. Grossman DC, Mueller BA, Riedy C, et al. Gun storage practices and risk of youth suicide and unintentional firearm injuries. *JAMA*. 2005;293(6):707-714.
- 111. Mishara BL, Martin N. Effects of a comprehensive police suicide prevention program. Crisis. 2012;33(3):162-168.
- 112. Knox KL, Litts DA, Talcott GW, Feig JC, Caine ED. Risk of suicide and related adverse outcomes after exposure to a suicide prevention programme in the US Air Force: cohort study. *BMJ*. 2003;327(7428):1376.



- 113. Hayes LM. Prison Suicide: an overview and a guide to prevention. *The Prison Journal*. 1995;75(4):431-456.
- 114. Barker E, Kõlves K, De Leo D. Management of suicidal and self-harming behaviors in prisons: systematic literature review of evidence-based activities. *Archives of Suicide Research*. 2014;18(3):227-240.
- 115. Rush BR, Gliksman L, Brook R. Alcohol availability, alcohol consumption and alcohol-related damage. I. The distribution of consumption model. *J Stud Alcohol*. 1986;47(1):1-10.
- 116. Gruenewald PJ, Remer L. Changes in outlet densities affect violence rates. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2006;30(7):1184-1193.
- 117. Lipton R, Gruenewald P. The spatial dynamics of violence and alcohol outlets. J Stud Alcohol. 2002;63(2):187-195.
- 118. Lippy C, DeGue S. Exploring alcohol policy approaches to prevent sexual violence perpetration. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse.* 2016;17(1):26-42.
- 119. Johnson FW, Gruenewald PJ, Remer LG. Suicide and alcohol: do outlets play a role? *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2009;33(12):2124-2133.
- 120. Durkheim E. *Suicide: a study in sociology* (translated by JA Spaulding and G Simpson). New York, NY: Free Press. (Original work published 1897). 1897/1951.
- 121. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Strategic direction for the prevention of suicidal behavior: promoting individual, family, and community connectedness to prevent suicidal behavior.* 2009; Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/ViolencePrevention/pdf/Suicide\_Strategic\_Direction\_Full\_version-a.pdf.
- 122. Muennig P, Cohen AK, Palmer A, Zhu W. The relationship between five different measures of structural social capital, medical examination outcomes, and mortality. *Soc Sci Med.* 2013;85:18-26.
- 123. Beyer KM, Layde PM, Hamberger LK, Laud PW. Does neighborhood environment differentiate intimate partner femicides from other femicides? *Violence Against Women*. 2015;21(1):49-64.
- 124. Whitley R, McKenzie K. Social capital and psychiatry: review of the literature. Harv Rev Psychiatry. 2005;13(2):71-84.
- 125. De Silva MJ, McKenzie K, Harpham T, Huttly SR. Social capital and mental illness: a systematic review. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2005;59(8):619-627.
- 126. Wyman PA. Developmental approach to prevent adolescent suicides: research pathways to effective upstream preventive interventions. *Am J Prev Med.* 2014;47(3 Suppl 2):S251-256.
- 127. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Principles of community engagement*. CDC/ATSDR Committee on Community Engagement. 1997. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/communityengagement/pdf/PCE\_Report\_508\_FINAL.pdf
- 128. Branas CC, Cheney RA, MacDonald JM, Tam VW, Jackson TD, Ten Have TR. A difference-in-differences analysis of health, safety, and greening vacant urban space. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2011;174(11):1296-1306.
- 129. Branas CC, Kondo MC, Murphy SM, South EC, Polsky D, MacDonald JM. Urban blight remediation as a cost-beneficial solution to firearm violence. *Am J Public Health*. 2016;106(12):2158-2164.
- 130. Bandura A. Social foundations of thought and action: a social cognitive theory. Prentice-Hall, Inc; 1986.
- 131. Pollock LR, Williams JM. Problem-solving in suicide attempters. *Psychol Med*. 2004;34(1):163-167.
- 132. Herman KC, Borden LA, Reinke WM, Webster-Stratton C. The impact of the Incredible Years parent, child, and teacher training programs on children's co-occurring internalizing symptoms. *Sch Psychol Q.* 2011;26(3):189-201.
- 133. Knox MS, Burkhart K, Hunter KE. ACT against violence parents raising safe kids program: effects on maltreatmentrelated parenting behaviors and beliefs. *Journal of Family Issues*. 2010.
- 134. Wasserman D, Hoven CW, Wasserman C, et al. School-based suicide prevention programmes: The SEYLE clusterrandomised, controlled trial. *Lancet*. 2014;385(9977):1536-1544.
- 135. Wilcox HC, Kellam SG, Brown CH, et al. The impact of two universal randomized first- and second-grade classroom interventions on young adult suicide ideation and attempts. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 2008;95 Suppl 1:S60-73.
- 136. Kellam SG, Brown CH, Poduska JM, et al. Effects of a universal classroom behavior management program in first and second grades on young adult behavioral, psychiatric, and social outcomes. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2008;95 Suppl 1:S5-S28.



- 137. Webster-Stratton C, Reid MJ, Stoolmiller M. Preventing conduct problems and improving school readiness: evaluation of the Incredible Years teacher and child training programs in high-risk schools. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. 2008;49(5):471-488.
- 138. Webster-Stratton CH, Reid MJ, Beauchaine T. Combining parent and child training for young children with ADHD. Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology. 2011;40(2):191-203.
- 139. Reid MJ, Webster-Stratton C, Hammond M. Follow-up of children who received the Incredible Years intervention for oppositional-defiant disorder: maintenance and prediction of 2-year outcome. *Behavior Therapy*. 2003;34(4):471-491.
- 140. Webster-Stratton C, Hammond M. Treating children with early-onset conduct problems: a comparison of child and parent training interventions. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 1997;65(1):93-109.
- 141. Webster-Stratton C, Reid MJ, Hammond M. Preventing conduct problems, promoting social competence: a parent and teacher training partnership in head start. *J Clin Child Psychol*. 2001;30(3):283-302.
- 142. Spoth RL, Guyll M, Day SX. Universal family-focused interventions in alcohol-use disorder prevention: costeffectiveness and cost-benefit analyses of two interventions. *J Stud Alcohol*. 2002;63(2):219-228.
- 143. Curtin SC, Warner M, Hedegaard H. Increase in suicide in the United States, 1999-2014. *NCHS Data Brief*. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics; 2016.
- 144. Jobes DA. The Collaborative Assessment and Management of Suicidality (CAMS): an evolving evidence-based clinical approach to suicidal risk. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* 2012;42(6):640-653.
- 145. Wilcox HC, Wyman PA. Suicide prevention strategies for improving population health. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* 2016;25:219-233.
- 146. Isaac M, Elias B, Katz LY, et al. Gatekeeper training as a preventative intervention for suicide: a systematic review. *Can J Psychiatry*.2009;54(4):260-268.
- 147. Gould MS, Munfakh JL, Kleinman M, Lake AM. National suicide prevention lifeline: enhancing mental health care for suicidal individuals and other people in crisis. *Suicide Life Threat Behav*. 2012;42(1):22-35.
- 148. Gilbody S, Bower P, Fletcher J, Richards D, Sutton AJ. Collaborative care for depression: a cumulative meta-analysis and review of longer-term outcomes. *Arch Int Med.* 2006;166(21):2314-2321.
- 149. Archer J, Bower P, Gilbody S, et al. Collaborative care for depression and anxiety problems. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2012;10(Art No CD006525).
- 150. Bruce ML, Ten Have TR, Reynolds III CF, et al. Reducing suicidal ideation and depressive symptoms in depressed older primary care patients: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2004;291(9):1081-1091.
- 151. Inagaki M, Kawashima Y, Kawanishi C, et al. Interventions to prevent repeat suicidal behavior in patients admitted to an emergency department for a suicide attempt: a meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord*. 2015;175:66-78.
- 152. Gould MS, Cross W, Pisani AR, Munfakh JL, Kleinman M. Impact of Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training on the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* 2013;43(6):676-691.
- 153. Walrath C, Garraza LG, Reid H, Goldston DB, McKeon R. Impact of the Garrett Lee Smith youth suicide prevention program on suicide mortality. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(5):986-993.
- 154. Godoy Garraza L, Walrath C, Goldston DB, Reid H, McKeon R. Effect of the Garrett Lee Smith Memorial Suicide Prevention Program on suicide attempts among youths. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2015;72(11):1143-1149.
- 155. Gould MS, Kalafat J, Harrismunfakh JL, Kleinman M. An evaluation of crisis hotline outcomes. Part 2: Suicidal callers. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* 2007;37(3):338-352.
- 156. Hunkeler EM, Katon W, Tang L, et al. Long term outcomes from the IMPACT randomised trial for depressed elderly patients in primary care. *BMJ*. 2006;332(7536):259-263.
- 157. Unutzer J, Tang L, Oishi S, et al. Reducing suicidal ideation in depressed older primary care patients. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2006;54(10):1550-1556.



- 158. Comtois KA, Jobes DA, S. O'Connor S, et al. Collaborative assessment and management of suicidality (CAMS): feasibility trial for next-day appointment services. *Depress Anxiety*. 2011;28(11):963-972.
- 159. Linehan MM, Comtois KA, Murray AM, et al. Two-year randomized controlled trial and follow-up of dialectical behavior therapy vs therapy by experts for suicidal behaviors and borderline personality disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry.* 2006;63(7):757-766.
- 160. Diamond GS, Wintersteen MB, Brown GK, et al. Attachment-based family therapy for adolescents with suicidal ideation: a randomized controlled trial. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2010;49(2):122-131.
- 161. Rubenstein LV, Chaney EF, Ober S, et al. Using evidence-based quality improvement methods for translating depression collaborative care research into practice. *Families, Systems, & Health.* 2010;28(2):91-113.
- 162. Fleischmann A, Bertolote JM, Wasserman D, et al. Effectiveness of brief intervention and contact for suicide attempters: a randomized controlled trial in five countries. *Bull World Health Organ*. 2008;86(9):703-709.
- 163. Motto JA, Bostrom AG. A randomized controlled trial of postcrisis suicide prevention. *Psychiatr Serv*. 2001;52(6):828-833.
- 164. Hassanian-Moghaddam H, Sarjami S, Kolahi AA, Carter GL. Postcards in Persia: randomised controlled trial to reduce suicidal behaviours 12 months after hospital-treated self-poisoning. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2011;198(4):309-316.
- 165. Wang YC, Hsieh LY, Wang MY, Chou CH, Huang MW, Ko HC. Coping card usage can further reduce suicide reattempt in suicide attempter case management within 3-month intervention. *Suicide Life Threat Behav*. 2016;46(1):106-120.
- 166. Brown GK, Ten Have T, Henriques GR, Xie SX, Hollander JE, Beck AT. Cognitive therapy for the prevention of suicide attempts: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2005;294(5):563-570.
- 167. Pitman A, Osborn D, King M, Erlangsen A. Effects of suicide bereavement on mental health and suicide risk. *Lancet Psychiatry*. 2014;1:86-94.
- 168. Etzersdorfer E, Sonneck G. Preventing suicide by influencing mass-media reporting: the Viennese experience, 1980– 1996. Arch Suicide Res. 1998;4(1):67-74.
- 169. Niederkrotenthaler T, Sonneck G. Assessing the impact of media guidelines for reporting on suicides in Austria: interrupted time series analysis. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. 2007;41(5):419-428.
- 170. Szumilas M, Kutcher S. Post-suicide intervention programs: a systematic review. Can J Public Health. 2011;102(1):18-29.
- 171. Bohanna I, Wang X. Media guidelines for the responsible reporting of suicide: a review of effectiveness. *Crisis*. 2012;33(4):190-198.
- 172. Visser VS, Comans TA, Scuffham PA. Evaluation of the effectiveness of a community-based crisis intervention program for people bereaved by suicide. *Journal of Community Psychology*. 2014;42(1):19-28.
- 173. Cerel J, Campbell FR. Suicide survivors seeking mental health services: a preliminary examination of the role of an active postvention model. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* 2008;38(1):30-34.
- 174. Niederkrotenthaler T, Voracek M, Herberth A, et al. Media and suicide. Papageno v Werther effect. *BMJ*. 2010;341:c5841.
- 175. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Violent Death Reporting System. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control; 2017. Available online: https://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/nvdrs.html.
- 176. The National Center for the Review & Prevention of Child Deaths. U.S. Child Death Review Programs. https://www.childdeathreview.org/cdr-programs/u-s-cdr-programs/.
- 177. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Brener ND, Kann L, et al. Methodology of the Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System--2013. *MMWR Recomm Rep.* 2013;62(RR-1):1-20.





### Appendix: Summary of Strategies and Approaches to Prevent Suicide

Strategy	Approach/Program, Practice or Policy	Best Available Evidence			
		Suicide	Suicide Attempts or Ideation	Other Risk/ Protective Factors for Suicide	Lead Sectors <sup>1</sup>
Strengthen economic supports	Strengthening household financial sec	Government			
	Unemployment benefit programs	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	(local, state, Federal)
	Other income supports	$\checkmark$			Business/Labor
	Housing stabilization policies	Government			
	Neighborhood Stabilization Program			✓	<ul> <li>(local, state,</li> <li>Federal)</li> </ul>
Strengthen access and delivery of suicide care	Coverage of mental health conditions				
	Mental Health Parity Laws	$\checkmark$		~	Government
	Reduce provider shortages in underse	(local, state,			
	National Health Service Corps (NHSC)			~	Federal) Healthcare
	Telemental Health (TMH)			$\checkmark$	
	Safer suicide care through systems cha	Social Services			
	Henry Ford Perfect Depression Care (Pre-cursor to Zero Suicide)	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	1
Create protective environments	Reduce access to lethal means among	Government			
	Intervening at suicide hot spots	$\checkmark$			(local, state)
	Safe storage practices		✓	$\checkmark$	Public Health
	Emergency Department Counseling on Access to Lethal Means (ED CALM)			$\checkmark$	Healthcare
	Organizational policies and culture	Business/labor			
	Together for Life	$\checkmark$			Justice
	US Air Force Suicide Prevention Program	~		~	Government (local, state, Federal)
	Correctional suicide prevention	$\checkmark$			
	Community-based policies to reduce e	Government			
	Alcohol outlet density	~		~	(local, state) Business/labor
Promote connectedness	Peer norm programs	Public Health			
	Sources of Strength			✓	Education
	Community engagement activities	Public Health			
	Greening vacant urban spaces			~	Government (local)

\*This column refers to the lead sectors well positioned to bring leadership and resources to implementation efforts. For each strategy, there are many other sectors such as non-governmental organizations that are instrumental to prevention planning and implementing specific activities.



Strategy	Approach/Program, Practice or Policy	Best Available Evidence			
		Suicide	Suicide Attempts or Ideation	Other Risk/ Protective Factors for Suicide	Lead Sectors <sup>1</sup>
Teach coping and problem- solving skills	Social-emotional learning programs				
	Youth Aware of Mental Health Program		✓	~	Public Health - Education
	Good Behavior Game		✓	√	
	Parenting skill and family relationship a	– Public Health			
	The Incredible Years			✓	Education
	Strengthening Families 10–14			$\checkmark$	
ldentify and support people at risk	Gatekeeper training				
	Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training			~	Public Health Health Care
	Garret Lee Smith Suicide Prevention Program	$\checkmark$	~		
	Crisis intervention	Public Health			
	National Suicide Prevention Lifeline		~	$\checkmark$	Social Services
	Treatment for people at risk of suicide				
	Improving Mood – Promoting Access to Collaborative Treatment (IMPACT)		✓	√	Healthcare Social Services Justice
	Collaborative Assessment and Management of Suicidality (CAMS)		✓	✓	
	Dialectical Behavioral Therapy (DBT)		✓	✓	
	Attachment-Based Family Therapy (ABFT)		✓		
	Translating Initiatives for Depression into Effective Solutions project (TIDES)			✓	
	Treatment to prevent re-attempts				
	ED Brief Intervention with Follow-up Visits	$\checkmark$			Healthcare Social Services
	Active follow-up contact approaches	$\checkmark$	✓		
	CBT for Suicide Prevention		✓		
Lessen harms and prevent future risk	Postvention	Lingth care			
	StandBy Response Service		~	$\checkmark$	Healthcare
	Safe reporting and message about suic	Public Health			
	Media Guidelines	$\checkmark$			Media

\*This column refers to the lead sectors well positioned to bring leadership and resources to implementation efforts. For each strategy, there are many other sectors such as non-governmental organizations that are instrumental to prevention planning and implementing specific activities.

#### For more information

To learn more about preventing suicide, call 1-800-CDC-INFO or visit CDC's violence prevention pages at www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention.

> National Center for Injury Prevention and Control Division of Violence Prevention

